Impacts of Climate Change on Columbia River Salmon

A review of the scientific literature published in 2013

Prepared by Lisa Crozier with help from Delaney Dechant and Kiley Sullivan

Fish Ecology Division Northwest Fisheries Science Center National Marine Fisheries Service, NOAA 2725 Montlake Boulevard East Seattle, Washington 98102



August, 2014

Summary

Climate Science Projections

A number of key new global and regional climate projections were released in 2013. Working Group I of the IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) completed its contribution to the 5th IPCC Assessment Report, *Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis* (IPCC 2013). Locally, two reports synthesize global modeling results for the Pacific Northwest: *Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation in Washington State* (Snover et al. 2013b), from the University of Washington Climate Impacts Group, and *Climate Variability and Change in the Past and Future* (Mote et al. 2013), from the Oregon Climate Change Research Institute.

A consequential change presented in the 5th IPCC assessment report is the introduction of four new carbon emission scenarios based on *representative concentration pathways* (RCPs 2.6, 4.5, 6, and 8.5). The lowest emissions scenario (RCP 2.6) assumes much more aggressive reductions in emissions than any previous scenario. Results from this report are very similar to those of previous reports when similar emissions scenarios are compared. However, the scenarios previously selected for downscaling by many climate modeling groups in the Pacific Northwest, including the University of Washington Climate Impacts Group, excluded the high-end emissions scenarios (RCPs 4.5 and 6). Current downscaling efforts, such as the Integrated Scenarios of the Future Northwest Environment project, include the business-as-usual emissions scenario (RCP 8.5).

Under the RCP 8.5 scenario, Northwest air temperatures are expected to warm in all seasons, but the greatest warming is projected for summer (1.9-5.2°C in the 2041-2070 period). The range of annual warming between RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5 is 2.4-3.6°C. Precipitation projections across global climate models (GCMs) include both drier and wetter trends in all seasons and in annual precipitation, but most models project drier summers with the rest of the year being wetter (see Figure 2.6 in Mote et al. 2013).

At present, most of the Columbia River Basin is expected to shift to rain or mixed rain and snow by the 2080s. Peak snowmelt and peak flows in snow-dominated basins are projected to shift earlier, with some peak flows occurring in winter rather than spring. Flooding, landslide risk, and sediment flow increase due to intense winter rains. Decreased precipitation and warmer temperatures during summer lead to more extreme low flows across much of the Columbia River Basin (Hamlet et al. 2013). A number of hydrological and temperature modeling results for individual basins within the Columbia River Basin focused on the Salmon River Basin in Idaho (Sridhar et al. 2013), the Santiam River Basin in Oregon (Surfleet and Tullos 2013b, a), and the Methow Valley in Washington (Bellmore et al. 2013). Finally, a groundwater model was developed for the Deschutes River Basin in Oregon (Waibel et al. 2013).

Retrospective Analyses

Retrospective analyses of climate trends over the past century or so in the Pacific Northwest generally identified patterns similar to those projected to result from greenhouse gas accumulation. A review of this literature for the National Climate Assessment, *Climate Variability and Change in the Past and the Future* (Mote et al. 2013), and *Technical Summary for Decision Makers* from the University of Washington Climate Impacts Group (Snover et al. 2013b), summarized the key findings. During 1895-2011, the Northwest warmed approximately 0.7°C (1.3°F) annually, with average air temperatures approximately the same in summer, but 1.1°C (2°F) higher in winter. There was no statistically significant long-term trend in precipitation (1895-2011), but analyses of shorter time-series did find trends of varying magnitude. Recent studies have found that not all streams respond to climate change in the same manner. The response depends on river management and study duration, as well as other factors.

Ocean Acidification and Hypoxia

Literature published in 2013 focused specifically on ocean acidification and hypoxia. Ocean acidification is clearly detected both on the outer coast and in Puget Sound, with acidity increases of 10-40% since 1800 (Feely et al. 2010 cited in Snover et al. 2013b). The aragonite saturation state has declined in surface water on the Oregon shelf from 1.0-4.7 in pre-industrial times to 0.66-3.9 in 2007-2011 (Harris et al. 2013). Complex trophic interactions lead to projected global ocean productivity decreases of 6.3% by the 2090s from increasing acidification, although primary production in the Arctic is expected to increase by 59% (Yool et al. 2013). A food web model of Puget Sound projected very limited impacts on salmon (Busch et al. 2013b).

In a study that focused specifically on the California Current, one group (Hauri et al. 2013) reported that aragonite undersaturation events along the shelf have quadrupled in number and lengthened in duration, and this trend will continue. Within about 20 years, the seafloor will be undersaturated most of the time, and when CO₂ levels reach 500 ppm, undersaturation will become basically permanent.

Much recent work has studied how localized levels of upwelling and productivity correlate with large-scale atmospheric processes such as the North Pacific High, North Pacific Gyre Oscillation, Pacific Decadal Oscillation, and El Niño, at both lower and higher trophic levels (Garcia-Reyes et al. 2013a; Hatch 2013; Lindegren et al. 2013). However, these dynamics are complex, and the pathways by which they influence salmon are not entirely clear and may change over time.

Estuarine habitat is likely to change with sea-level rise, and some detailed habitat mapping in 2013 helps to clarify where habitat might be gained and lost, which is crucial to long-term planning of habitat availability (Flitcroft et al. 2013).

Projected Impacts on Pacific Salmon

In general, the tenor of 2013 articles on climate change impacts to salmon is consistent with previous reports: conditions in a few cold-water locations might improve for certain life stages, but the vast majority of impacts are negative. These negative impacts are projected across Pacific salmon species, throughout the various life stages that occupy freshwater, and geographically across the west coast. Furthermore, many populations that are already highly impacted by other threats are also the most vulnerable to climate change. In 2013, two key papers quantified vulnerability or risk to specific populations: a detailed quantitative vulnerability analysis for steelhead over the entire Columbia River Basin (Wade et al. 2013), and a quantitative analysis of juvenile survival in the Lemhi River, Idaho, which compares the impact of water management options with climate change (Walters et al. 2013).

An additional qualitative analysis was conducted for Oregon coho populations (Wainwright and Weitkamp 2013), and spawn timing and juvenile growth impacts were analyzed for steelhead and Chinook salmon populations from Washington through California (Beer and Anderson 2013). Lastly, an important step in incorporating climate change into status assessments was completed for all salmonids in California (Katz et al. 2013).

Observed Impacts on Adult Migration and Spawning

Several keys papers also documented challenges with the hydrosystem or for transportation relating to thermal conditions. New evidence documents temperature gradients up to 4°C within fish ladders at dams in the Columbia River that appeared to block migration by causing adult fish to reverse movement in ladders and fall back downstream (Caudill et al. 2013). Temperature-related fallback is a serious concern for fish managers under the present climate, but may become even more so when mitigating for rising river temperatures.

One mitigation strategy that has been proposed for avoiding thermal stress in rivers is to transport adult salmon upstream to spawning habitat. However, one case study showed fish failed to spawn following transportation (Mosser et al. 2013). Additional limitations might need to be placed on fisheries under warm water conditions because mortality rates are higher when temperature and handling stress interact (Gale et al. 2013). In addition to previously established influences of temperature and food availability on growth rates, some unexpected consequences of changing the thermal regime include altering sex ratios within age classes and age at maturity (Mizzau et al. 2013).

Interacting Stressors: Hypoxia, Contaminants, and Invasive Species

A significant challenge in assessing climate-change impacts is how to identify and characterize interacting stressors such as hypoxia, contaminants, and invasive species. Hypoxia, in particular, is likely to co-occur with ocean acidification and rising temperatures. The effects of hypoxia generally exacerbate thermal stress (Ellis et al. 2013), but in 2013, two review papers showed that tolerance of the two traits (as well as some others) can be correlated (Anttila et al. 2013b; Hasnain et al. 2013).

Contaminants are a persistent problem in Northwest watersheds, as elsewhere, and several studies indicate that with the projected intensification of winter storms (Conaway et al. 2013), transport of contaminants might increase. Two review papers showed that, in addition to increased contaminant loads, biological effects may grow more acute as contaminants interact with climate-related changes in factors such as temperature, flow, salinity, and pH (Hooper et al. 2013; Moe et al. 2013).

A major concern for Columbia River Basin salmon is the threat of invasions of warm-adapted species, which compete with or prey upon native salmon. American shad, brook trout, and brown trout all showed temperature-dependent responses consistent with greater future penetration across the Columbia River Basin; however, none of the work in 2013 included detailed projections for these non-native populations.

Ocean Conditions

A series of six papers report results on correlates of survival and migration characteristics for Columbia River juvenile salmon during their ocean stages (Burke et al. 2013a, b; Daly et al. 2013; Miller et al. 2013; Ralston et al. 2013; Sharma et al. 2013). These papers point to a full array of interacting physical and biological factors. Although they do not make specific projections, they do suggest salmon are highly vulnerable if ocean conditions decline systematically due to climate change. A special issue of the journal *Conservation Biology* presented a number of papers exploring how climate change might be incorporated into decisions under the Endangered Species Act (Boughton and Pike 2013; Gregory et al. 2013; Jorgensen et al. 2013; McClure et al. 2013; Seney et al. 2013; Snover et al. 2013a; Walters et al. 2013). Generally, the uncertainty of climate projections is no longer a sufficient reason to omit them from listing and recovery planning decisions. These papers offer guidelines for progress.

In conclusion, new literature generally supports previous concerns that climate change will cause moderate to severe declines in salmon, especially when interacting factors are incorporated into the analysis (e.g., existing threats to populations, water diversion, accelerated mobilization of contaminants, hypoxia, and invasive species). Many populations are already heat stressed in either their tributary habitats or migration corridors.

Contents

Summary	ii
Objective and Methods	1
Physical Processes of Climate Change	3
Projections for the Pacific Northwest	4
Climate	4
Stream Temperature and Flow	5
Retrospective Analyses: Terrestrial and Freshwater Conditions	8
Pacific Northwest Climate Trends	8
Stream Flows	10
Stream Temperatures	11
Projections: Ocean Conditions	13
Retrospective Analyses: the California Current	14
Upwelling	14
Hypoxia and pH	15
Ecosystem Responses	15
Climate Impacts on Salmon	17
Projections Affecting Pacific Salmon	18
Freshwater Life Stages	18
Watershed Vulnerability Assessment	20
Ocean Life Stages	20
Retrospective Analyses: Environmental Influences on Salmon	23
Migration Behavior and Survival	23
Growth and Sensitivity to Environmental Conditions	24
Habitat Preference	25
Evolutionary Response to Thermal Environments: Migration Timing	25
Local Adaptation in Egg Size and Survival, Redd Depth, and Heat Shock	•
Proteins	26
Interacting Stressors: Hypoxia, Contaminants, and Disease	28
Methods of Analyses	28
Contaminants	29
Fish Pathogens	29
Invasive Species	30
Marine Survival and Benavior	31
Climate Change and Endangered Species	32
Literature Cited	34
Glossary	50

Objective and Methods

The goal of this review was to identify literature published in 2013 that is most relevant to prediction and mitigation of impacts of climate change on Columbia River salmon listed under the Endangered Species Act. Because almost anything that affects salmon is related to or altered in some way by changes in temperature, stream flow, or marine conditions, a large amount of literature related to this topic was necessarily excluded. In our literature search, we elected to focus on peer-reviewed scientific journals included in the *Web of Science* database, although we occasionally included highly influential grey literature. We sought to capture the most relevant papers by combining climatic and salmonid terms in search criteria. This excluded studies of general principles demonstrated in other taxa or within a broader context. In total, we reviewed over 1,300 papers, 195 of which were included in this summary.

Literature searches were conducted January and July 2014 using the Institute for Scientific Information (ISI) *Web of Science* indexing service. Each set of search criteria involved a new search, and results were compared with previous searches to identify missing topics. As a first step, we used specific search criteria that included a publication year of 2013, plus:

- A topic that contained the terms climate,¹ temperature, streamflow, flow, snowpack, precipitation, or² PDO, and a topic that contained salmon, *Oncorhynchus*, or steelhead
- 2) A topic that contained climate, temperature, precipitation, streamflow **or** flow **and** a topic containing "Pacific Northwest"
- 3) A topic that contained the terms marine, sea level, hyporheic, or groundwater and climate, and salmon, *Oncorhynchus*, or steelhead
- 4) Topics that contained upwelling or estuary and climate and Pacific
- 5) A full text search that contained ocean acidification **or** California Current **or** Columbia River
- 6) A topic that contained prespawn mortality

This review is presented in two major parts, with the first considering changes to the physical environmental conditions that are important to salmon and that are projected to change with the climate; for example, air temperature, precipitation, snowpack, stream

¹ The wildcard (*), was used to search using "climat*" to capture all forms of the word "climate."

² Boolean operators used in the search are shown in boldface.

flow, stream temperature, and ocean conditions. We describe projections driven by global climate model (GCM) simulations, as well as historical trends and relationships among these environmental factors. In the second part, we summarize the literature on responses of salmon to these environmental factors, both projected and retrospective, in freshwater and marine environments.

Physical Processes of Climate Change

In 2013, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) completed its 5th Assessment Report (AR5) from Working Group I, *The Physical Science of Climate Change* (IPCC 2013). This contribution was based on models developed during Phase 5 of the Coupled Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP5). Projections in this report are based on new greenhouse gas emission scenarios defined in terms of representative concentration pathways (RCPs). An RCP is expressed as an increase in radiative forcing (energy from the sun absorbed by the earth) from pre-industrial values to the year 2100; RCP scenarios range 2.6-8.5 W/m². Most of these scenarios are roughly similar to those in previous reports, with one exception. The new report includes a novel, very low-emissions scenario with extremely aggressive reductions in carbon emissions and sequestration, such that emissions start declining in the 2020s (RCP 2.5). The upper emissions continue to increase through the century, comparable to scenario A1FI in the 4th IPCC Assessment Report (AR4).

To interpret how these new results might change our understanding of climate change impacts in the Pacific Northwest, it is important to recognize that results from AR5 are very similar to those of AR4 when similar emissions scenarios are compared. However, scenarios selected from the AR4 by many climate modeling groups for downscaling in the Pacific Northwest did not include the high-end emission scenario (A1FI). Thus, downscaled models from these groups, which include those from the University of Washington Climate Impacts Group, reflect the mid-range RCP scenarios (RCPs 4.5 and 6).

Current downscaling efforts, such as the *Integrated Scenarios of the Future Northwest Environment* project do include the business-as-usual emissions scenario, RCP 8.5, as well as RCP 4.5 (which is similar to B1 from AR4). Thus projections from this effort will span a wider range of futures than those previously considered by the Climate Impacts Group (e.g., scenarios B1 and A1B or A2).

Projections for the Pacific Northwest

Climate

Two reports synthesize the new modeling results for the Pacific Northwest (Dalton et al. 2013; Snover et al. 2013b). Under emissions scenario RCP 8.5, air temperature in the Northwest is expected to increase in all seasons, but the greatest increase is projected for summer 2041-2070, at 1.9-5.2°C (3.4-9.4°F). The range of projected annual warming between RCP scenarios 4.5 and 8.5 is 2.4-3.6°C. Annual and seasonal precipitation might decrease or increase in the PNW (range 5-14%), depending on the model. However, annual changes are generally less than historical annual variation (historical SD = 14%; Mote et al. 2013); therefore, these changes will probably not be detectable for several decades at least. Most models project drier summers with the rest of the year being wetter. The driest summers were projected in models with the largest temperature increases.

Rupp et al. (2013) analyzed the performance of 41 GCMs compared to 20th century observations using a wide suite of metrics that tend to be important for impacts assessments. They ranked these models to provide a useful resource for applications in which a subset must be selected for further analysis, because not all the models can be used in impacts assessments (Rupp et al. 2013).

Across the Northern Hemisphere, the AR5 (IPCC 2013) projects the following ranges by 2081-2100, based on means of RCP scenarios 2.6-8.5: spring snow cover declines of 7-25%; glacier recessions of 15-85%; sea surface temperature increases of 1.1-3.6°C; global sea level increases of 11-38 inches; and global ocean pH decreases of 38 to 109%, which correspond to a drop in pH of 0.14-0.32.

Nationally, the climate of the United States is expected to change sufficiently that certain locations will occupy climate zones previously unknown in this country, including the "torrid" climate, which is hotter and drier than previous classifications based on the older projections. However, the overall climate type of the Pacific Northwest is not expected to change (Elguindi and Grundstein 2013).

Biases in general circulation models are corrected prior to downscaling, and thus do not affect impact assessments. However, we note that regional climate model reconstructions of 20th century climate for the Pacific Northwest tend to be wetter than observed (Kim et al. 2013). Multi-model ensembles continue to outperform individual

"best models" in general and are better tools for impact assessments (Kim et al. 2013; Snover et al. 2013a). Another assessment of regional climate modeling capability found that the weather research and forecasting (WRF) model captured temperature extremes (showing the anthropogenic warming signal) much better than precipitation extremes (Duliere et al. 2013).

Stream Temperature and Flow

To assess ecosystem responses to a changing climate and their implications for salmon, further analysis is needed of the climatic variables output from general circulation and regional climate models (GCMs and RCMs). Such analyses include hydrological and stream temperature models. A comprehensive description of stream flows across the Columbia River Basin was conducted by the Climate Impacts Group several years ago under emissions scenarios A1B and B1, and their final report was published in 2013 (Hamlet et al. 2013). Two other modeling efforts covered the entire Columbia River Basin (Beer and Anderson 2013; Wade et al. 2013), but these were focused on impacts for salmon, and thus are discussed in the salmon impacts section.

A number of hydrological and temperature modeling efforts have focused on individual subbasins within the Columbia River Basin. These subbasins include the Salmon River in Idaho (Sridhar et al. 2013), Santiam River in Oregon (Surfleet and Tullos 2013b, a), and Methow Valley in Washington (Ficklin et al. 2013). Finally, a much-needed groundwater model was developed for the Deschutes Basin in Oregon (Waibel et al. 2013). Below I summarize the scope and general results from these projects.

Flow Projections—A database of historical and projected stream flow for the Columbia River Basin, known as the 2860 Project, has been available from the Climate Impacts Group for a few years. However, the final report documenting this project and synthesizing major findings was published in 2013 (Hamlet et al. 2013). The Climate Impacts Group analyzed two emissions scenarios from the AR4 (A1B and B1). Both scenarios were modeled using 10 general circulation models from CMIP3, and both were downscaled using two different statistical methods plus a third hybrid method.

In summary, these analyses show most of the Columbia River Basin shifting to rain or mixed rain-and-snow by the 2080s. Peak snowmelt and peak flows in snow-dominated basins are projected to shift earlier, with some peak flows occurring in winter rather than spring. Flooding, landslide risk, and sediment flows increase due to intense winter rains. Precipitation decreases in summer, and warmer summer temperatures lead to more extreme low flows across much of the basin.

Projections of Subbasin Hydrology—Sridhar, Jin, et al. (2013) used the variable infiltration capacity (VIC) hydrology model in a new model of the Salmon River Basin, Idaho. They projected peak flows 10 d earlier and total flows and snow/water equivalent reduced by 3% over the next 90 years, which could increase drought risk (Sridhar et al. 2013). Surprisingly, drought in the Klamath Basin in California was projected to decrease in severity and intensity (Madadgar and Moradkhani 2013).

In a rain-dominated basin, the Santiam River in Oregon, a new analysis using the coupled groundwater and surface water flow model (GSFLOW) also confirmed previous projections: increases in runoff during fall and winter months and decreases in runoff during spring and summer. One-hundred-year floods are projected to decrease, but changes in low flows varied by subbasin, depending on groundwater input (Surfleet and Tullos 2013a). In the McKenzie River Basin, Oregon, a 2°C increase in temperature would decrease snowpack, especially between elevations of 1000 and 2000 m, and thereby reduce water storage capacity (Sproles et al. 2013).

The most dramatic floods and avalanches often result from rain-on-snow events, which primarily threaten the transient rain and snow basins. The transient band in the Santiam River basin is projected to rise from its current intermediate elevation of 350-1100 m, into higher elevations that are snow-dominated at present (Surfleet and Tullos 2013b).

Stream Temperature Projections—A new statistical model of stream temperatures in the Methow Valley combined hydrological results from a variable infiltration capacity (VIC) model with a statistical disaggregation technique. This approach allowed a novel combination of high temporal and spatial resolution with the long time-scale projections driven by general circulation models (Caldwell et al. 2013). These results project July warming of 0.8° C ($\pm 1.9^{\circ}$ C) to 2.8° C ($\pm 4.7^{\circ}$ C) by 2080. Confidence intervals on this projection are very wide because of the statistical methods used and limited existing data, and include cooling as a possible outcome (Caldwell et al. 2013). This is much less than warming predicted for the Sierra Nevada Basin (1.0-5.5^{\circ}C for the A2 scenario by 2100), particularly in the southern portion of the basin. Interestingly, this latter study also tracked dissolved oxygen, which is projected to decline 10%, and sediment, which is projected to decline 50%; either or both could stress some species (Ficklin et al. 2013). The implications of projected climatic change for stream flow and temperature depend in part on riparian vegetation, as demonstrated by Tetzlaff et al. (2013) in an analysis of a global collection of long-term ecological research sites in the North Watch Project. The role of riparian vegetation was also illustrated in a broader study (Davis et al. 2013). Studies have addressed general changes in landscape vegetation (e.g., Albright and Peterson 2013), and one study noted that floodplain vegetation might respond more to winter and spring precipitation than summer droughts (Bollman et al. 2013). However, riparian vegetation is generally not explicitly modeled in most stream-flow projections, except to test the ability of shading to mediate temperature rises.

Groundwater—Groundwater recharge plays a crucial role in moderating both stream flow and temperature, but groundwater processes have been difficult to model in many large-scale analyses (e.g., groundwater is not modeled by VIC). Nevertheless, an important differentiation can be made between basins with short and long groundwater flow paths (i.e., the amount of time between submersion and appearance in the stream or aquifer). Short groundwater flow paths, which are typical of headwater base flows, will be more affected by seasonal change in precipitation, whereas longer processes at the regional scale might be buffered by the fact that annual precipitation is not expected to change much (Waibel et al. 2013).

Retrospective Analyses: Terrestrial and Freshwater Conditions

Although long-term trends of general warming continued in 2013, El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) was in a neutral state most of the year; thus 2013 was not an extreme year compared with the last decade. The North Pacific Ocean did reach a historic high temperature in 2013 due to weakened westerly winds, and on balance, global average sea surface temperature was among the 10 highest on record (Blunden and Arndt 2014). Nonetheless, local ocean conditions were relatively cool and productive, and forage fish such as anchovy and juvenile rockfish had relatively high abundances (Wells et al. 2013; Harvey and Garfield 2014).

Notably, ENSO plays a very significant role not only in Pacific Northwest climate, but in global temperature. An analysis of the influence on global climate of temperatures in the eastern tropical Pacific indicated that the preponderance of La Niña-like conditions over the past decade can explain the recent "hiatus" in the global warming trend. Kosaka and Xie (2013) conclude this is a just a normal product of natural variability and does not indicate abatement in the general trend produced by greenhouse gas emissions.

Pacific Northwest Climate Trends

Retrospective climate analyses of the Pacific Northwest generally find the same trends over the past century or so that are projected to result from greenhouse gas accumulation. A general review of this evidence was completed by Mote et al. (2013) for the U.S. Global Change Research Program National Climate Assessment. These findings were reiterated in *Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation in Washington State* from the UW Climate Impacts Group (Snover et al. 2013b).

In summary, the Pacific Northwest has warmed approximately 0.72°C (1.3°F) from 1895 to 2011, with mean air temperatures approximately the same in summers, but higher during winters (1.1°C, 2°F). There has been no statistically significant long-term trend in precipitation during this time. However, analyses of shorter time series did find trends of varying magnitude. Studies of stream flow and snowpack are shorter in magnitude, and hence have less ability to differentiate between long-term trends and natural variability in climate (such as the PDO), although several cited below are consistent with expected changes from climate change.

The coastal ocean has changed as well. Ocean acidification has clearly been detected on both the outer coast and in Puget Sound, with acidity increases of 10-40% since 1800 (Feely et al. 2010 cited in Snover et al 2013b). Sea levels actually declined at Astoria, Oregon, by 0.1 inches/decade during 1925-2008 and by 0.7 inches/decade at Neah Bay, Washington, during 1934-2008. However, Puget Sound rose 0.8 inches/decade at Seattle during 1900-2008, and the Salish Sea rose 0.4 inches/decade at Friday Harbor during 1934-2008 (Snover et al. 2013b). Retrospective analyses of sea surface temperature showed varying trends across the California Current.

Individual studies of the general patterns reported here include the following analyses of glacial retreat, snowfall, precipitation, and stream flow and temperature.

Glacial Retreat and Snowfall—Glacial retreat in western North America over the last 100 years is unique in the climate record since the Little Ice Age, and shows a clear signal of anthropogenic forcing (Malcomb and Wiles 2013). Durre et al. (2013) analyzed an extended database of snow-depth and snowfall records to compare recent 30-year means (1981-2010) with those of an earlier 30-year period (1971-2000). The more recent "normal" period exhibited fewer days with snow on the ground, less total annual snowfall across much of the contiguous United States, and drier conditions (annually) over much of the Pacific Northwest.

Precipitation—In comparing periods without temporal overlap, 1950-1979 vs. 1980-2009, the Pacific Northwest west of the Cascade Mountain Range was drier in the recent period based on daily precipitation records. The greatest differences occurred during winters (January-March), which were ~30-40% drier. Summers (July-September) were ~30% drier across a slightly smaller spatial extent, with spring and fall showing less dramatic differences (Higgins and Kousky 2013). These patterns were especially strong during La Niña years.

However, the impact of ENSO in the Pacific Northwest may have changed in recent decades. Yu and Zou (2013) reported that a shift in the signature of recent El Niño events toward the central Pacific, compared with its more eastern-Pacific historic signature, has shifted the jetstream southward, causing drier conditions in much of the United States, including the Pacific Northwest. They suggest that this could explain the recent extended droughts. Deforestation in the Amazon has also been linked to reductions in precipitation in the Pacific Northwest and Sierra Nevada Mountains (Medvigy et al. 2013).

In a provocative study of a potential bias in our perspective on historical changes in Pacific Northwest precipitation, Luce et al. (2013) proposed that we have systematically underestimated precipitation declines at high elevations. They contend that an elevation bias in precipitation is a predicted characteristic of weaker westerly winds, and might explain many observed trends that show declining stream flow.

Wildfires—Wildfires have profound effects on streams, driving major shifts in scouring flows and nutrient and sediment loads for up to 4 years, and affecting community composition from benthic algae to fish (Verkaik et al. 2013). But a paleoecological perspective demonstrates that wildfires can also be the driver of sudden and relatively permanent shifts in vegetation more suited to a warmer climate (Gavin et al. 2013).

Stream Flows

In an analysis that takes into account the influence of geology and drainage patterns on the response of streamflow to changes in precipitation and temperature, Safeeq et al (2013) analyzed historical patterns in streamflow from 1950-2010 across the western U.S. They identified the types of watersheds most sensitive to climate warming. Summer flows from snow-dominated watersheds with deep groundwater sources showed the strongest effects. However, spring flows were most sensitive in snow-dominated watersheds that drain rapidly.

On tribal lands in the Columbia River Basin, peak stream flows have declined and advanced to earlier in the season, November 100-year floods have increased, and low flows have intensified (Dittmer 2013). Variation in these patterns across sites within the Columbia River Basin is driven by variation in physical factors (e.g., elevation) as well as anthropogenic factors such as flow regulation. Similar to results reported last year (Isaak et al. 2012), a new study of seven basins from 1950 to 2011 compared trends in flow from above and below major dams. They found that headwater sites showed the expected signature of climate change (earlier peak flows), but no consistent shift appeared below dams (Hatcher and Jones 2013).

A majority of GCM and RCMs project that winter precipitation in the Pacific Northwest will increase and will consist of more intense precipitation events. Combined with the transition of many basins from snow-dominated to transitional or rain-dominated weather patterns, more streams will likely be exposed to winter flooding. The risk of winter flooding for salmon is largely in that eggs are scoured out of their protective nests or that shifting sediment reduces oxygen availability. Two studies explored the risk of winter scour and flooding in the Salmon River Basin in Idaho and found relatively low risk for incubating eggs (Goode et al. 2013; McKean and Tonina 2013). Changes in streambed grain size depend crucially on sediment input, and hence could have negative or positive impacts on fish habitat (Neupane and Yager 2013). Changing flow levels also alter the relative proportion and total quantity of fish habitat, which might alter the impact of certain human actions such as adding riprap to stabilize shorelines (Jorgensen et al. 2013). Effects on stream flow represent one aspect for which evaluation of impacts under climate change might differ from those under the current climate. Such evaluations may influence regulating agencies in terms of their permitting decisions.

Stream Temperatures

A different way of thinking about warming temperatures at a given site is the elevation or latitude at which a certain thermal threshold is reached. Such a metric is useful for determining range limits and predicting range shifts. Using an analytical method, Isaak and Rieman (2013) surmised that isotherms on steep slopes (2-10% slope), such as many of the headwater streams in the Columbia Basin, will respond to a warming rate of 0.1-0.2°C/decade by shifting 0.13-1.3 km/decade, with shifts of 1.3-25 km/decade in flatter areas. Thus warming of 2°C could cause a shift of up to 143 km in a potential range limit.

All general circulation models and nearly all downscaled temperature projections anticipate a warmer climate. Because many populations of cold-water fish are already heat stressed, much research has focused on actions that can reduce local temperatures or provide thermal refugia. However, thermal refugia are generally not well characterized at present, because they often require very fine-scale thermal and groundwater maps. For the most part, such maps are not available or have not been fully analyzed. A first step toward better understanding of thermal refugia includes characterization of current spatial and temporal variability.

Thermal Refugia—A review of information on thermal refugia in the Columbia and lower Snake Rivers was produced by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (2013). This report 1) compared available temperatures in the mainstem and tributaries, 2) described the thermal profile of the Dworshak Reservoir and 3) described evidence of thermal refuge use from archival temperature-recording tags on individual migrating adult Chinook and steelhead. Of the seven tributaries for which they had sufficient data to compare, they found that the Clearwater River at Spalding and at Lewiston were substantially cooler than the Lower Granite pool and the Snake River at Anatone (reflecting cooling from Dworshak), but other tributaries were fairly similar to the mainstem (Umatilla was a little cooler) or warmer. Thus the only real source of cool water identified was the Dworshak reservoir.

Modeling of thermal gradients within reservoirs in the lower Snake River found relatively shallow temperature gradients (~4°C from 1 to 30 m depth) in all but the Lower Granite pool, again due to cold water from Dworshak releases. But the cold water from these releases does not have a large effect below Lower Granite Dam. Cool refugia in the reach from Bonneville to McNary Dam were identified, especially Deschutes and Little White Salmon Rivers. Studies of Chinook salmon showed that use of thermal refuge increased dramatically when mainstem temperature exceeded 21°C.

A study of the temporal characteristics of thermal refugia in Quebec found that the stability of these refugia depends on whether they are generated by groundwater input or cold-water tributary inflow. Groundwater cooling tended to follow patterns in seasonal mean discharge, whereas cold-water tributaries were more consistent from year to year (Dugdale et al. 2013). Cold-water tributaries can be predicted locally to some extent by landscape characteristics (Monk et al. 2013), as can more general hydrologic characteristics (Wigington et al. 2013). Exploring the temporal frequency of warm and cold events within streams also helps to describe thermal regimes (Arismendi et al. 2013), as does studying spatial structure in these regimes (Imholt et al. 2013b).

Aside from naturally cool tributaries, another source of cold-water input is large reservoirs. In fact, studies of historical temperature trends (Null et al. 2013) have found that water below large dams has not necessarily followed air temperature trends (unlike water above dams). Thus, managed releases of water can have a dramatic impact on thermal regime, in addition to altering the expected stream-flow responses to warming mentioned above (Hatcher and Jones 2013).

Riparian Cover—The primary mechanism of stream warming is solar radiation, which is greatly reduced by shading. Thus, a key alternative route to cooler water is to provide riparian cover, which is effective at cooling at small spatial scales (Imholt et al. 2013a; Ryan et al. 2013).

Generally stream temperature is strongly correlated with air temperature and stream flow, but a thoughtful analysis of this relationship in the Pacific Northwest was conducted by (Mayer 2012). The relationship between stream and air temperature is non-linear, with smaller increases in stream temperature at higher air temperatures. Stream temperatures often increase with urbanization, as shown in the Green-Duwamish River near Seattle, which Tan and Cherkauer (2013) attributed to modification of riparian structures and vegetation.

Projections: Ocean Conditions

A major emphasis in the 2013 literature was toward investigations of ocean acidification and hypoxia. A survey of subject-matter experts from the IPCC Working Group found consensus regarding the physical chemistry and direct impacts of ocean acidification on calcifying organisms and primary producers. However, the transfer of these impacts up the food web was more controversial (Gattuso et al. 2013). A simulation of ocean processes by Yool et al. (2013) projected a global decrease in ocean productivity of 6.3% by the 2090s, although it projected a 59% increase in primary production in the Arctic.

A major concern is the co-variation of hypoxia and high pCO₂ levels. Yool et al. (2013) found that the volume of suboxic zone ($<20 \text{ mmol O}_2\text{m}^{-3}$) increased by 12.5% globally. Coastal hypoxic zones ($<70 \mu\text{M}$, equivalent to 20-30 % air saturation) are especially vulnerable to increasing pCO₂ because of nonlinear carbon dynamics (Melzner et al. 2013). Upwelling regions, such as the California Current, are at particular risk. However, the combined ecological impacts of low O₂ and high pCO₂ are not well studied.

Similar results were apparent from a comparison of seven Earth Systems Models by Cocco et al. (2013). These models projected an increase in sea surface temperature of 2-3°C and decreases in pH and total ocean dissolved oxygen of 2-4%. Levels of dissolved oxygen in the upper mesopelagic layer (100-600 m depth) showed more complex responses, including increases and decreases, because of the sensitivity of DO levels to circulation, production, remineralization, and temperature change (Cocco et al. 2013).

Focusing specifically on the California Current, Hauri et al. (2013) found that aragonite undersaturation events along the shelf have quadrupled in number and lengthened in duration, and that this trend will continue. Without sufficient aragonite, it is very difficult for calcifying organisms to build shells. Within about 20 years, the seafloor will be undersaturated most of the time; when CO_2 levels reach 500 ppm, aragonite undersaturation will become basically permanent. Within 25 years, the saturation horizon in the central California Current will shoal into the upper 75 m.

Retrospective Analyses: the California Current

Most Pacific salmon achieve the vast majority of their growth in the ocean, and survival through this life stage is a major driver of variation in abundance for most populations. Thus, understanding the factors that determine marine growth and survival, and projecting how climate change will influence these factors, is a paramount priority.

Much recent work has focused on large-scale atmospheric processes such as the North Pacific High and North Pacific Gyre Oscillation (NPGO), and how they correlate with localized levels of upwelling and productivity at the lower trophic levels. It is important to keep in mind that nonlinearities in ecological systems can produce apparent state-transitions in marine ecosystems in response to random fluctuations in the atmosphere (Di Lorenzo and Ohman 2013).

Upwelling

Upwelling plays a crucial role in generating productivity of the California Current. Schroeder et al. (2013) found a relationship between upwelling and an index of the North Pacific High in winter, which they described as a "pre-conditioning" of the ocean that affects prey availability in spring—during the crucial early marine life stages of salmon. Understanding upwelling itself is a major challenge because it varies not just in mean values, but also in intensity, as well as in the timing of shifts between upwelling and downwelling seasons.

Using a new index that integrates these components, Bylhouwer et al. (2013) analyzed correlations between signals of the PDO and El Niño and upwelling in the California Current. They found that positive/warm phases of both large-scale processes were associated with a later onset of upwelling and a weaker and shorter upwelling season. In the southern California Current Ecosystem, Garcia-Reyes et al. (2013b) found that winter and spring winds and sea surface temperatures (and upwelling) strongly influenced success at higher trophic levels. Examples were Chinook salmon growth rates based on otolith microstructure, lay dates and reproductive success of multiple bird species, and sardine and rockfish recruitment and growth.

Hypoxia and pH

Upwelling brings to the surface deep ocean water that has not been exposed to air for extended periods and is generally diminished in oxygen. Peterson et al. (2013) found a link between the NPGO and oxygen levels in source waters upwelled in the California Current. They found that hypoxic water was more prevalent where the continental shelf is wider, covering up to 62% in some years. Dissolved oxygen and pH have been declining since 1980 in the California Undercurrent, while temperature and salinity have been increasing. Equatorial waters appear to be extending further up the coast. Also, in 2012, more acidic waters were upwelled along the coast than in 1980 (Meinvielle and Johnson 2013). Acidity also affects the aragonite saturation state, which has declined in surface water on the Oregon shelf from 1-4.7 in pre-industrial times to 0.66-3.9 in 2007-2011 (Harris et al. 2013).

Ecosystem Responses

Trends in chlorophyll levels vary across the California Current, but have been generally positive near shore over the 13 years from 1997 to 2010 (Thomas et al. 2013). Chlorophyll levels were highly correlated with the NPGO off Washington and Vancouver Island. Although I do not thoroughly review oceanographic modeling of the drivers of productivity at lower trophic levels, one that describes the influence of the PDO and NPGO on the California Current is worth mentioning (Franks et al. 2013). Other models describe dynamics for California, British Columbia, and Alaska (Coyle et al. 2013; Decima et al. 2013).

Many fish respond to ocean/atmospheric forcing factors, including flatfish in both condition and distribution (Keller et al. 2013) and sardine and anchovy in population cycling (Lindegren et al. 2013); these responses are similar to those observed in birds (Hatch 2013). In an analysis of world fisheries catches, Cheung et al. (2013) developed a new index of the thermal preferences of the catch to determine whether there is evidence in catch data that southern species are moving northward. They found that in fact, the mean thermal preference of catch in 52 large marine ecosystems, excluding the tropics, increased 0.23°C per decade from 1970 to 2006.

Large-scale atmospheric drivers tend to cycle at longer time scales, alternating between positive and negative phases. Following these phases, several authors discussed corresponding "regime shifts" in ecological (Hatch 2013) and social-ecological systems (Perry and Masson 2013). Hatch (2013) suggested 2008 marks another regime shift in Alaska. Perry and Masson (2013) used the driver–pressure–state–impact–response

framework (used in the Integrated Ecosystem Assessment) to develop a multivariate index of regime shifts for the Strait of Georgia. Their index included a wide variety of factors, such as physical conditions, hatchery releases, and fishing effort, as well as drivers and pressures from human populations and biological indices at all trophic levels, including catch, to describe the state and impacts (Perry and Masson 2013). They identified 6 variables that acted as leading indicators of regime shift.

Although somewhat peripheral to our main topic, we also note physical analyses of the impact of Japan's Tōhoku earthquake and tsunami in 2011 on flows in the Columbia River and how the timing of the impact depended on tide height (Tolkova 2013). Increasing wave height is also shown to be a more dominant driver of coastal flooding and erosion than sea-level rise (Ruggiero 2013). Estuarine habitat is likely to change with sea level rise, and some detailed habitat mapping helps to clarify where habitat might be gained and lost, which is crucial to long-term planning of habitat availability (Flitcroft et al. 2013).

Climate Impacts on Salmon

The literature on climate impacts on salmon fall into two categories. First, retrospective analyses strive to identify the role of environmental factors in salmon biology and distribution. This background information is essential for the second category, projections affecting salmon, wherein retrospective knowledge is used to predict salmon responses to climate change in the coming decades.

Because policy decisions depend most on projected responses to future climate, I begin with a summary of work in this category. Within this body of literature, I first address *freshwater* habitat suitability and population modeling, and then focus on implications of *ocean acidification* for marine life stages. Finally, I note the potential for *range expansion* into habitats that are currently too cold or inaccessible, but might become suitable under a changing climate.

Projections Affecting Pacific Salmon

Freshwater Life Stages

A number of studies have generated quantitative and qualitative projections specific to the populations included in this Biological Opinion. Among these, the **steelhead** vulnerability assessment of Wade et al. (2013) stands out for the following qualities:

- Broad scope covering all steelhead populations in the Pacific Northwest
- Life-stage specific approach, wherein all freshwater life stages are modeled with individual tolerance criteria and spatial and temporal exposures
- Comprehensive stress index, which incorporates duration, intensity, and extremes of environmental exposure
- Population-specific vulnerability index that accounts for current population status
- Inclusion of other habitat stressors such as land use and human population density

For this study, Wade et al. (2013) produced detailed stream-flow and temperature projections. They found that historical water temperature already approaches lethal limits for adult steelhead in the Upper Snake, Rogue, Chehalis and Middle Columbia Rivers. Thus, even minor increases in thermal exposure put some of these populations above lethal limits. In future scenarios, they project the greatest temperature increases in the Upper Columbia, Lower Snake, Lower Columbia, and Upper Willamette Basins. Populations in these locations also face high habitat stress, and hence high total vulnerability scores (see Figure 6 in Wade et al. 2013). This analysis will be very useful for conservation planning.

A second analysis of steelhead focused on life history diversity in the Methow River. This analysis compared climate change with the effects of changes in temperature and food availability (Benjamin et al. 2013). Rising temperature increased growth rates, leading to smaller and younger maturation or smoltification. However, food web changes had the ability to either mediate or exacerbate the effects of temperature.

For all west coast populations of steelhead and Chinook salmon, Beer and Anderson (2013) performed quantitative projections of spawn day, egg development, and juvenile growth under climate change scenarios. They predicted that Chinook salmon would spawn later in the year, but that steelhead spawn timing would not change. Because of counteracting impacts of increased temperature on growth, their projections showed that mid-summer weights of both species stayed the same across most of the range but increased at some high elevation and cooler sites.

Another comprehensive but qualitative analysis of full life-cycle exposure to climate change addressed Oregon Coast **coho** salmon (Wainwright and Weitkamp 2013). These authors addressed the direction and magnitude of population response to climate trends in each life stage and our certainty in that response. They found a preponderance of negative or strongly negative effects with relatively high certainty compared with neutral or positive effects, leading to a projection of population decline in most populations. A somewhat similar although simpler deduction was applied to all nine species of salmonids in the Nooksack River, Washington, where potential loss of snow and glacier melt is projected to be the primary driver of decline (Grah and Beaulieu 2013).

A model of juvenile survival for Chinook salmon in the Lemhi River compared the effects of water diversion and climate change under various management and climate scenarios (Walters et al. 2013). They found that the effects of these factors compounded: diversion alone lowered juvenile survival 42-58%, but diversion with climate change depressed survival an additional 11-39%.

Numerous additional quantitative analyses and novel approaches have been applied to a variety of trout species (Al-Chokhachy et al. 2013; Blair et al. 2013; Filipe et al. 2013; Hedger et al. 2013; Roberts et al. 2013). However, because these are not focal species for this Biological Opinion, I list only the most interesting ones: a probabilistic accounting of uncertainty for bull trout projections in the Interior Columbia River Basin (Wenger et al. 2013); a comprehensive ecological, evolutionary, and genetic model of Atlantic salmon (Piou and Prevost 2013); and a study of how carrying capacity changes with temperature in brown trout (Ayllon et al. 2013).

Of particular interest might be the release by Katz et al. (2013) of a quantitative analysis of conservation status that incorporated risk of climate change for all native salmonids in California. They found that climate change and hatchery propagation were the most pressing extinction threats, with climate change having the largest negative effect and acting on all California populations.

On a more positive, albeit limited note, Boughton and Pike (2013) showed that upstream migration in one particular steelhead population might not be very sensitive to climate warming, but that the frequency of storms could limit migration opportunity. In summary, projections of freshwater climate impacts are consistent with those from previous analyses: a few cold-water locations showed positive responses to climate change in certain life stages, but the vast majority of impacts are negative. These negative impacts extended across salmon species, throughout the various freshwater life stages, and geographically across the West Coast. Furthermore, many populations already most impacted from other threats are also the most vulnerable to climate change.

Watershed Vulnerability Assessment

The U.S. Forest Service conducted a set of pilot vulnerability assessments of American watersheds, including two where species in this Biological Opinion reside (Umatilla and Sawtooth Basins) and summarized the general lessons learned from this process (Furniss et al. 2013). They projected a substantial loss in bull trout habitat, due to increases in winter peak flows and loss of connectivity between habitats due to high summer temperatures and reduced base-flows. Populations in 2 of the 14 subbasins assessed were considered to be at high population persistence risk by the 2040s, and in the Sawtooth Basin, 3 populations faced such risk levels by the 2080s. In the Umatilla, they estimated that about 34% of suitable bull trout habitat would be lost.

Although prospects in the Pacific Northwest are rather discouraging, we note that world-wide, salmon have successfully established new populations outside their historical range both through introduction and natural exploration (Nielsen et al. 2013). Some barriers to migration might continue to separate populations, such as the barrier of northern Quebec between North American and European Atlantic salmon. But recolonization after natural disturbances is generally swift (Milner et al. 2013).

Ocean Life Stages

An analysis of cumulative and interacting effects of tidal power development and climate change on ESA-listed species in Puget Sound, Washington (Busch et al. 2013a) found that salmon showed interactive effects from these two stressors. Although some species showed little direct impacts from climate change (e.g., steelhead), the combined effects of changing foodweb and tidal power produced very high risk to these populations.

Migration Pathways—Climate change will affect many aspects of marine life, including growth, survival, and behavior. Marine migrations are currently little understood. In a review of the impacts of climate change on marine migratory species, Anderson et al. (2013) described the relevant physical changes and current knowledge about fidelity to foraging and breeding habitats and migration corridors and bioclimate envelop models of current distributions, and phenology. They then developed an individual-based model for a generalized response to climate change based on phenology-mediated growth, survival, and reproduction. Using this model, they projected population growth, extinction risk, and adaptation mechanisms.

Anderson et al. (2013) concluded that the size of the bioclimate envelop is very important for population fate, and more specialized species are at greater risk. Genetic adaptation might be too slow to prevent phenological mismatch with prey, and rescue by phenotypic plasticity depends on whether the cue for the behavioral response tracks climate change, i.e., whether the existing reaction norm will successfully track future bioclimate envelops.

However, it is not clear to what extent individual species traits will be important in determining responses to climate change. A comparison of observed shifts in ranges across marine species with local climate changes found that variation in local climate explained more than species traits (Pinsky et al. 2013). Increasing variability in certain atmospheric indices, such as the NPGO, also seems to be correlated with increasing influence on a number of ecosystem components from krill to seabirds (Sydeman et al. 2013) in recent decades. But the extent to which these patterns will continue is unknown.

Ocean Acidification—In 2013, extensive work focused on ocean acidification and interactions with hypoxia. Generally these publications show substantial resilience to direct effects of ocean acidification at higher trophic levels, especially for fish important for fisheries such as walleye pollock (Hurst et al. 2013) and cod (Frommel et al. 2013; Maneja et al. 2013a; Maneja et al. 2013b). However, hypoxia effects at lower trophic levels are highly idiosyncratic, which makes projecting cumulative food-web responses very challenging.

An elegant demonstration of these complexities can be found in the scenarios compared by Busch et al. (2013b) using a food web model of Puget Sound. Using the *Ecopath with Ecosim* model, they examined varying numbers of functional groups that were negatively affected by ocean acidification, from one to all heterotrophic calcifying groups. Scenarios either increased or decreased fisheries yield, because impacts at different levels of the food chain sometimes cancelled each other out. Ultimately, most impacts on fisheries stemmed from direct rather than indirect effects. Thus, modeled

impacts on salmon were relatively small, with less than a 5% change in yield in all scenarios except one, in which ocean acidification affected only macrozooplankton.

Our understanding of sensitivity to ocean acidification is growing quickly. A meta-analysis of 228 studies reported that 100 new species have been studied recently (Kroeker et al. 2013). In general, heavily calcified organisms, including calcified algae, corals, mollusks, and the larval stages of echinoderms, are the most negatively impacted, whereas crustaceans, fish, fleshy algae, seagrasses, and diatoms are less affected or even benefit from acidification. The diversity of individual species and life-stage sensitivities indicates that evolution of tolerance to ocean acidification is possible and perhaps likely in some species (Kelly and Hofmann 2013; Kelly et al. 2013).

Effects of ocean acidification on fish often involve olfactory ability, in some cases impairing behavior (Leduc et al. 2013; Lonnstedt et al. 2013) and in other cases improving hearing (Bignami et al. 2013). These results bear relevance to otolith studies in which bone growth is used as an indicator of body size. Ocean acidification might interact with toxicants, both in terms of the carbon balance and fish responses (Nikinmaa 2013) and might also affect virus-host interactions, though current studies mostly involve phytoplankton (e.g., Carreira et al. 2013).

Retrospective Analyses: Environmental Influences on Salmon

Migration Behavior and Survival

Temperature-Related Migration Blockage—Most Pacific salmon reproduce only once in their lifetime, and historically, survival during the upstream migration has been high. Reducing anthropogenic hindrances during this stage is crucial for recovery. Thermal barriers to migration have probably always characterized migrations for some stocks (e.g., Okanogan sockeye and Klamath River Chinook). However, modern structures and water withdrawals that cause temperatures to shoot near or past lethal limits may create serious thermal barriers for many more stocks, and addressing this problem is a high priority for salmon managers.

Several papers in 2013 documented this problem, and in some cases, the failure of transportation to mitigate the problem. In the Columbia River, temperature gradients over 4°C within fish ladders at dams were associated with fallbacks and passage delays during adult migrations (Caudill et al. 2013). In Butte Creek, California, transportation of fish that had stopped migrating did not result in successful spawning (Mosser et al. 2013).

Changes in Migration Behavior—Extensive work with Atlantic salmon continues to show high sensitivity to environmental conditions in both juvenile behavior (Heggenes et al. 2013; Roy et al. 2013) and smolt stages (Handeland et al. 2013; Lacroix 2013; Lefevre et al. 2013). Marine migratory behavior is affected by smolt timing and marine water temperature. In one case, late smolt arrival coincided with a ring of warm marine water around the Bay of Fundy. This resulted in prolonged residency in the bay, where high predation apparently caused a near failure of cohort survival (Lacroix 2013).

Although not necessarily related to environmental conditions, a useful study of spring/summer Chinook salmon in the Columbia River Basin showed that within a population, the *order* of migration timing is age-structured (Bracis and Anderson 2013). They showed that within a population, the oldest fish migrate first and the youngest last. This analysis could help understand constraints on adult distribution and ability to stay within productive areas of the ocean in the year of adult return under future conditions.

Enhanced Vulnerability to Fisheries—Temperature interacts with other stressors. Of particular concern is the stress from fisheries during the upstream migration. A review across species found widespread evidence that mortality after catch and release is elevated at higher temperatures, even when those temperatures are within the normal tolerance range (Gale et al. 2013). Consistent with this general review, a specific study on Atlantic salmon documented a negative interaction between temperature and stress from catch-release handling (Richard et al. 2013). However, pink and chum salmon seem to be more resilient to handling stress on the spawning grounds than other species (Raby et al. 2013).

Growth and Sensitivity to Environmental Conditions

Most Pacific salmon have variable life histories that depend largely on growth opportunity. Recent studies have related residency in steelhead (Berejikian et al. 2013) and unusual yearling life history in fall Chinook salmon (Hegg et al. 2013) to water temperature and flow. In these relationships, the mechanistic driver was thought to be related to lipid, as has been shown for Atlantic salmon (Jonsson et al. 2013). Temperature may affect lipid reserves, which dropped after exposure to high thermal stress in steelhead (Kammerer and Heppell 2013a) and redband trout (Kammerer and Heppell 2013b), as indicated by production of heat shock protein. At higher temperatures, steelhead grow less and produce more heat shock protein (Kammerer and Heppell 2013a).

An analysis of Willamette Chinook salmon (Johnson and Friesen 2013) found no change in mean age at maturity, despite changes in environmental conditions over 17 years. However, these researchers did detect a relationship between adult body size and the Pacific Decadal Oscillation. Because growth rates have different consequences for age at return for males vs. females, relative sizes of fish on the spawning grounds might shift in a warmer climate. In a recent study on Chinook salmon, Mizzau et al. (2013) found that at 15°C compared with 10°C, sexual-size dimorphism was biased toward males in juveniles, whereas it was biased toward females in mature adults. The head start in male growth apparently caused earlier maturation, which led to reproduction with larger, older females.

An interesting paper related multi-species fish responses to a severity index representing flow extremes in Ontario (Jones and Petreman 2013). They found that across species, low-flow events depressed young-of-the-year growth while high-flow events increased growth; likewise, abundance was depressed by low-flow events but augmented by high-flow events.

Habitat Preference

Much behavior is mediated by thermal conditions in combination with other habitat factors, and I briefly visit a few of the studies relevant to salmonids. In general, this literature is consistent with our previous understanding of salmon behavior and optimal growth conditions. For example, steelhead in California minimize activity under warmer conditions and avoid pools over 30°C (Sloat and Osterback 2013). One interesting study demonstrated a correlation between boldness and stress, such as that induced by hypoxia or temperature (Frost et al. 2013). This suggests indirect mechanisms that alter the impact of stress on growth rate. An overview of winter behavior outlines some potentially relevant insights for detailed behavior models (Weber et al. 2013).

Evolutionary Response to Thermal Environments: Migration Timing

Migration timing is strongly related to environmental covariates, but these responses can be plastic (i.e., immediate behavioral responses to the environment) or genetic (i.e., determined by selection in previous generations). Kovach et al. (2013b) show how a suite of juvenile and adult stages in five salmon species have changed with climate in Auke Creek, Alaska. Evolutionary responses in migration phenology in pink salmon were recently linked to natural selection (Kovach et al. 2012), but further study of this population has shown they did not lose genetic variation despite the rapid shift in gene frequencies (Kovach et al. 2013a).

A second study on this same population trend found that early and late-migrating phenotypes have essentially come to different solutions in the survival trade-off between the freshwater vs. marine life stages (Gharrett et al. 2013). Gharrett et al. (2013) argued that embryos from early migrating adults had lower freshwater survival but high early marine survival: these embryos face harsh winter conditions and the effects of ongoing spawning, but they arrived earlier in the ocean under better feeding conditions. Late-migrating adults, on the other hand, produce offspring with better early growth in freshwater but poorer marine survival. In salmon, this type of divergent selection with alternate solutions to a common problem (maximizing lifetime fitness) gives rise to much phenotypic and genetic diversity.

Local Adaptation in Egg Size and Survival, Redd Depth, and Heat Shock Proteins

Many aspects of thermal tolerance and preference have a genetic basis and are local adaptations to specific habitats and life histories. However, these traits are also extremely sensitive to acclimation, timing, and maternal conditions, which are very difficult to control for in population comparisons, but which might explain some of the patterns described here. Nonetheless, egg-size/temperature relationships differ among populations in the direction expected from local adaptation (Braun et al. 2013).

Populations of Fraser River sockeye salmon historically exposed to warmer incubation regimes produced larger eggs than expected from a single egg-size/temperature relationship for all populations; this might reflect compensation for the warmer environment through local adaptation. Fraser River sockeye also may have evolved thermal reaction norms to match river conditions during the migration season (Whitney et al. 2013). Another study of Fraser River sockeye found that aerobic scope and cardiac performance was consistent with local adaptation across populations with migrations of varying timing and difficulty (Eliason et al. 2013).

Whitney et al. (2013) also found that populations that experience higher egg incubation temperatures have right-shifted thermal reaction norms. However, Chen et al. (2013) showed patterns among Fraser River sockeye populations that indicated upper temperature tolerance in eggs varied with age at measurement. These results suggest that temperature tolerance at a single point in time might not be a robust test of local adaptation. This study also found differences in heart rates across populations, and concluded they had evidence for thermal adaptation (Chen et al. 2013). Another purported adaptation to incubation conditions involved female redd depth in brown trout (Riedl and Peter 2013), where variation along an elevation gradient in Switzerland was thought to reflect adaptation to scour risk.

Expression of heat shock proteins is consistent with individual population exposure to high temperatures in redband trout, but there is an interesting trade-off between the benefit of expressing these proteins in response to short-term vs. long-term exposure. In the short term, elevation heat shock proteins are beneficial. However, chronic production of these proteins has negative consequences, so over evolutionary time, selection works to reduce their expression (Narum et al. 2013). It is important to keep in mind that similar phenotypic responses to temperature and other stressors might reflect very different physiological processes (Wellband and Heath 2013a, b). Thermal preferences are not always genetically determined. A study of ecotype by population growth and thermal preference in lake trout found that acclimation explained more variation than population growth, indicating a plastic response to early growth conditions (McDermid et al. 2013).

Many adaptations to climate have a genetic basis. However, these adaptations evolve relatively quickly, as shown by the high relatedness within basins among populations of different life history types, compared with between-basin divergence (Moran et al. 2013). Population genetics presents powerful tools for deciphering local adaptation, and great advances are being made in identifying genes subject to natural selection (Vincent et al. 2013). For example, differentiation at three circadian-clock genes was associated with differences in run-timing of spring vs. fall Chinook in Feather River, California (O'Malley et al. 2013).

Interacting Stressors: Hypoxia, Contaminants, and Disease

Methods of Analyses

A popular conceptual model for integrating the impact of multiple stressors is the theory of oxygen and capacity limited thermal tolerance (so-called OCLTT). This theory relates thermal exposure to aerobic scope, which in turn affects the performance measures typically used to indicate fitness. In 2013, this theory came under fire (Clark et al. 2013). However, the criticisms of this approach were less applicable to upstream-migrating salmon than to salmon in other contexts, and upstream migration is the primary context in which we have referred to OCLTT in these reports (see also the general defense by Farrell 2013). The effects of hypoxia generally exacerbate temperature stress (e.g., in brook char, Ellis et al. 2013), but tolerance of the two traits can be correlated. For example, enhanced tolerance of hypoxia was observed in strain of genetically selected, fast-growing rainbow trout compared to a slow-growing strain (Roze et al. 2013).

Anttila et al. presented two studies (2013a, 2013b) reviewing the evidence for a correlation between thermal tolerance and hypoxia tolerance, and found a positive correlation between these traits. They concluded that their findings supported the OCLTT theory. However, Hasnain et al.(2013) presented a broader review of traits related to thermal adaptation. These included metrics of growth (optimal growth temperature, final temperature preferendum), survival (upper incipient lethal temperature, critical thermal maximum), and reproduction (optimum spawning temperature, optimum egg development temperature). Growth, survival, and reproduction metrics were evaluated across 173 North American freshwater fish species, and results showed that all of these traits were highly correlated, with a strong phylogenetic component.

An emerging new technique is metabolomics, in which low molecular mass metabolites within the cell, tissue, or biofluid of an organism are analyzed in response to an external stressor (Lankadurai et al. 2013). This technique might lead to growth in the study of interactions among stressors. Dolomatov et al. (2013) summarize much of the physiology of temperature regulation.

Contaminants

Contaminants are a persistent problem in Northwest watersheds, as elsewhere. This threat may grow more acute as contaminants interact with factors that change with climate, such as flow, salinity, or pH. Attempts to attribute fish decline to effects of contaminants is often difficult, as shown in a case study of Fraser River sockeye salmon (Ross et al. 2013). The complexity of such interactions was reviewed by Hooper et al. (2013) and Moe et al. (2013), with the latter presenting a framework for solving the problem. For example, many climate models predict an increase in severe storm events in the Pacific Northwest. Extreme flows are associated with such events, and these flows have both direct and indirect effects.

Extreme flows carry most of the toxic sediment that arrives in an estuary from contaminated areas within a steep coastal basin in San Lorenzo, California (Conaway et al. 2013). The impact of contaminant pulses, such as those carrying polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, can increase at higher temperature (Brinkmann et al. 2013). Despite concern that the toxicity of insecticides in estuaries might intensify under increasing salinity, one study showed little effect (Riar et al. 2013). Aluminum is more toxic in more acidic water, and a study of migrating Atlantic salmon smolts found that at low exposures, the toxic effect of aluminum was delayed at times until the fish entered marine water (Thorstad et al. 2013).

Fish Pathogens

Some **diseases** are affected by flow and temperature regimes, either through pathogen growth rates, vector dynamics, or virulence/resistance by the fish. *Ceratomyxa shasta*, a parasite common from the Columbia to Klamath Rivers, is sensitive to temperature at all stages of transmission. Ongoing work examines relationships between transmission of this parasite and water velocity and temperature (Ray and Bartholomew 2013). The parasite-host relationship involves co-evolution, as shown for the evolution of oligochete resistance to the myxozoan parasite that causes whirling disease in the Colorado River (Nehring et al. 2013). **Proliferative kidney disease** is also more difficult for brown trout to completely expel under warmer conditions (Schmidt-Posthaus et al. 2013).

Invasive Species

A major concern for Columbia River Basin salmon is the threat of invasion by warm-adapted species that compete with or prey upon native salmon. American shad has come to dominate the anadromous fish migration in the lower Columbia River. The incursion of shad upstream past McNary Dam is correlated with higher water temperatures and lower levels of flow. The conditions projected with climate change (warmer summer temperature and lower summer flows) are consistent with further penetration of the upper Columbia River by American shad (Hinrichsen et al. 2013). **Brook trout** has also invaded much of the Columbia Basin. Studies in both the Canadian Rockies (Warnock and Rasmussen 2013) and in Vermont (Butryn et al. 2013), found that brook trout more readily invaded warmer streams. **Brown trout** are not a recognized threat at this point in the Columbia River Basin, but numerous studies have documented their habitat preferences and invasion behavior (see especially Labonne et al. 2013), and they are probably selectively preferred under warmer conditions.

Marine Survival and Behavior

Numerous papers analyzed the relationships between early marine conditions and adult returns for Columbia River salmon. Daly et al. (2013) found that larval fish biomass in the winter prior to smolt arrival was a good predictor of salmon survival. In a separate study, juvenile rockfish survival (a favored prey species) was correlated with sea level anomalies (Ralston et al. 2013). Miller et al. (2013) found that fish condition in September (but not June) and Columbia River plume volume explained most of the variation in adult returns. Burke et al. (2013b) found that a large suite of variables was necessary to explain adult returns. Sharma et al. (2013) related the spatial scale of ocean covariation to adult returns and found that a spatial scale of 350-450 km best represented the correlation structures. These relationships point to large-scale driving factors in the Pacific Ocean that synchronize responses from many populations.

In their study of geographic patterns, rather than survival, Burke et al. (2013a) explored decision rules that can explain marine distributions and found that geographic rather than environmental factors apparently controlled migration. These results suggest that fish might hazard highly unsuitable conditions to reach their goal. Hypoxia, in particular, is increasing along the Oregon coast, challenging the tolerance of many invertebrates, although some were resistant (Eerkes-Medrano et al. 2013).

One report published in 2013 for a stock outside the Columbia Basin was noteworthy: a modeling effort by Dorner et al. (2013) found that detection of oceanographic drivers using a Ricker function on catch data can be extremely difficult. They concluded that it is unlikely that modeling efforts at present can accurately represent such marine drivers or manage them for climatic effects.

Climate is clearly important in driving survival during both the freshwater and marine life stages of Pacific salmon, and co-variations in survival are observed over large spatial scales (Sharma et al. 2013). Nevertheless, climate over the past 500 years did not synchronize population dynamics across 20 populations of sockeye salmon in Alaska (Rogers et al. 2013).

Climate Change and Endangered Species

A series of papers in a special issue of Conservation Biology considers how climate change affects ESA decisions. The Special Issue addresses a range of issues from climate science to biology to policy focus. Starting with the climate science, Snover et al. (2013a) offer guidance for choosing climate change scenarios and clarification of irreducible uncertainty. One piece of advice from this paper is that climate scientists, biologists and policy makers should work together early in the process for the best outcome. Although not in the special issue, a separate paper finds a successful approach taken by NOAA's Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments (RISAs) program in disseminating information and promoting scientist/client interaction and application of the information (Kirchhoff 2013).

The Special Issue in Conservation Biology also addresses more conceptual biological issues, such as clarification of the breadth of the conceptual model needed to encompass the full range of climate impacts (not just lethal maximum temperatures) and the imperative of considering long term (100 year) climate projections in setting goals for proactive actions and necessary levels of population protection (McClure et al. 2013). Although not part of this special issue, another paper fills out many of these steps in a framework document that includes a case study on salmon in the Pacific Northwest (Wilsey et al. 2013).

Other papers in the Special Issue address the policy decision making process, including an overview of ESA processes (Seney et al. 2013) and explication of a decision focused approach (Gregory et al. 2013), similar to the adaptation turning point approach mentioned above.

Our literature search was designed to identify cutting-edge experimental and analytical science relevant to understanding the impacts of climate change on Pacific salmon. As such, it does not cover most policy documents or practical approaches to decision-making, which are typically not published in peer-review scientific journals. Nonetheless the smattering of papers from this literature may be useful to mention.

A crucial question for reintroduction or restoration programs is whether climate change will make a given habitat unsuitable, regardless of habitat restoration actions. This question is addressed in a case study of prospects for reintroduction of Atlantic salmon to the Rhine River, where (Bolscher et al. 2013) propose a five-step process to determine adaptation turning points. These steps are

- 1) Describe the system of interest and scope of the project
- 2) Identify potential key impacts of climate change,
- 3) Identify the socio-political objectives of concern
- 4) Determine adaptation turning points, such as when critical thermal maxima are likely to be exceeded, and
- 5) Develop alternate adaptation strategies, i.e., actions to postpone or avoid turning points.

Obstacles to applying these frameworks often involve institutional and operational issues, including competing demands for a shared resource, and effective communication between climate information and water managers. A study of hotspots of water quality vulnerability in the Columbia River Basin lays out some areas of concern when human interests are considered alongside biological interests in an integrated water supply, demand, quality assessment (Chang et al. 2013).

Options for responding to ocean acidification are especially sparse. To address this deficiency, Bille et al. (2013) review four categories of management responses: preventing ocean acidification; strengthening ecosystem resilience; adapting human activities; and repairing damages.

Literature Cited

- Al-Chokhachy, R., J. Alder, S. Hostetler, R. Gresswell, and B. Shepard. 2013. Thermal controls of Yellowstone cutthroat trout and invasive fishes under climate change. Global Change Biology 19:3069–3081.
- Albright, W. L. and D. L. Peterson. 2013. Tree growth and climate in the Pacific Northwest, North America: A broad-scale analysis of changing growth environments. Journal of Biogeography 40:2119-2133.
- Anderson, J. J., E. Gurarie, C. Bracis, B. J. Burke, and K. L. Laidre. 2013. Modeling climate change impacts on phenology and population dynamics of migratory marine species. Ecological Modelling 264:83-97.
- Anttila, K., M. T. Casselman, P. M. Schulte, and A. P. Farrell. 2013a. Optimum temperature in juvenile salmonids: connecting subcellular indicators to tissue function and whole-organism thermal optimum. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 86:245-256.
- Anttila, K., R. S. Dhillon, E. G. Boulding, A. P. Farrell, B. D. Glebe, J. A. K. Elliott, W. R. Wolters, and P. M. Schulte. 2013b. Variation in temperature tolerance among families of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) is associated with hypoxia tolerance, ventricle size and myoglobin level. Journal of Experimental Biology 216:1183-1190.
- Arismendi, I., S. L. Johnson, J. B. Dunham, and R. Haggerty. 2013. Descriptors of natural thermal regimes in streams and their responsiveness to change in the Pacific Northwest of North America. Freshwater Biology 58:880-894.
- Ayllon, D., G. G. Nicola, B. Elvira, I. Parra, and A. Almodovar. 2013. Thermal carrying capacity for a thermally-sensitive species at the warmest edge of its range. Plos One 8:e81354.
- Beer, W. N. and J. J. Anderson. 2013. Sensitivity of salmonid freshwater life history in western US streams to future climate conditions. Global Change Biology 19:2547-2556.
- Bellmore, J. R., C. V. Baxter, K. Martens, and P. J. Connolly. 2013. The floodplain food web mosaic: A study of its importance to salmon and steelhead with implications for their recovery. Ecological Applications 23:189-207.
- Benjamin, J. R., P. J. Connolly, J. G. Romine, and R. Perry. 2013. Potential effects of changes in temperature and food resources on life history trajectories of juvenile Oncorhynchus mykiss. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:208-220.
- Berejikian, B. A., L. A. Campbell, and M. E. Moore. 2013. Large-scale freshwater habitat features influence the degree of anadromy in eight Hood Canal Oncorhynchus mykiss populations. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:756-765.

- Bignami, S., I. C. Enochs, D. P. Manzello, S. Sponaugle, and R. K. Cowen. 2013. Ocean acidification alters the otoliths of a pantropical fish species with implications for sensory function. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110:7366-7370.
- Bille, R., R. Kelly, A. Biastoch, E. Harrould-Kolieb, D. Herr, F. Joos, K. Kroeker, D. Laffoley, A. Oschlies, and J. P. Gattuso. 2013. Taking action against ocean acidification: A review of management and policy options. Environmental Management 52:761-779.
- Blair, J. M., I. Ostrovsky, B. J. Hicks, R. J. Pitkethley, and P. Scholes. 2013. Growth of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) in warm-temperate lakes: Implications for environmental change. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:815-823.
- Blunden, J. and D. S. Arndt. 2014. State of the Climate in 2013. Bull. Amer. Meteor. Soc. 95:S1-S257.
- Bollman, M. A., G. A. King, L. S. Watrud, and M. G. Johnson. 2013. Seasonal soil moisture patterns in contrasting habitats in the Willamette Valley, Oregon. Northwest Science 87:161-177.
- Bolscher, T., E. van Slobbe, M. T. H. van Vliet, and S. E. Werners. 2013. Adaptation turning points in river restoration? The Rhine salmon case. Sustainability 5:2288-2304.
- Boughton, D. A. and A. S. Pike. 2013. Floodplain rehabilitation as a hedge against hydroclimatic uncertainty in a migration corridor of threatened steelhead. Conservation Biology 27:1158-1168.
- Bracis, C. and J. J. Anderson. 2013. Inferring the relative oceanic distribution of salmon from patterns in age-specific arrival timing. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:556-567.
- Braun, D. C., D. A. Patterson, and J. D. Reynolds. 2013. Maternal and environmental influences on egg size and juvenile life-history traits in Pacific salmon. Ecology and Evolution 3:1727-1740.
- Brinkmann, M., S. Hudjetz, U. Kammann, M. Hennig, J. Kuckelkorn, M. Chinoraks, C. Cofalla, S. Wiseman, J. P. Giesy, A. Schaffer, M. Hecker, J. Wolz, H. Schuttrumpf, and H. Hollert. 2013. How flood events affect rainbow trout: Evidence of a biomarker cascade in rainbow trout after exposure to PAH contaminated sediment suspensions. Aquatic Toxicology 128:13-24.
- Burke, B. J., M. C. Liermann, D. J. Teel, and J. J. Anderson. 2013a. Environmental and geospatial factors drive juvenile Chinook salmon distribution during early ocean migration. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:1167-1177.
- Burke, B. J., W. T. Peterson, B. R. Beckman, C. Morgan, E. A. Daly, and M. Litz. 2013b. Multivariate models of adult Pacific salmon returns. Plos One 8:e54134.
- Busch, D. S., C. M. Greene, and T. P. Good. 2013a. Estimating Effects of Tidal Power Projects and Climate Change on Threatened and Endangered Marine Species and Their Food Web. Conservation Biology 27:1190-1200.

- Busch, D. S., C. J. Harvey, and P. McElhany. 2013b. Potential impacts of ocean acidification on the Puget Sound food web. Ices Journal of Marine Science 70:823-833.
- Butryn, R. S., D. L. Parrish, and D. M. Rizzo. 2013. Summer stream temperature metrics for predicting brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) distribution in streams. Hydrobiologia 703:47-57.
- Bylhouwer, B., D. Ianson, and K. Kohfeld. 2013. Changes in the onset and intensity of wind-driven upwelling and downwelling along the North American Pacific coast. Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans 118:2565-2580.
- Caldwell, R. J., S. Gangopadhyay, J. Bountry, Y. Lai, and M. M. Elsner. 2013. Statistical modeling of daily and subdaily stream temperatures: Application to the Methow River Basin, Washington. Water Resources Research 49:4346-4361.
- Carreira, C., M. Heldal, and G. Bratbak. 2013. Effect of increased pCO(2) on phytoplankton-virus interactions. Biogeochemistry 114:391-397.
- Caudill, C. C., M. L. Keefer, T. S. Clabough, G. P. Naughton, B. J. Burke, and C. A. Peery. 2013. Indirect effects of impoundment on migrating fish: Temperature gradients in fish ladders slow dam passage by adult chinook salmon and steelhead. Plos One 8:e85586.
- Chang, H. J., I. W. Jung, A. Strecker, D. Wise, M. Lafrenz, V. Shandas, H. Moradkhani, A. Yeakley, Y. D. Pan, R. Bean, G. Johnson, and M. Psaris. 2013. Water supply, demand, and quality indicators for assessing the spatial distribution of water resource vulnerability in the Columbia River Basin. Atmosphere-Ocean 51:339-356.
- Chen, Z., K. Anttila, J. Wu, C. K. Whitney, S. G. Hinch, and A. P. Farrell. 2013. Optimum and maximum temperatures of sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) populations hatched at different temperatures. Canadian Journal of Zoology-Revue Canadienne De Zoologie 91:265-274.
- Cheung, W. W. L., R. Watson, and D. Pauly. 2013. Signature of ocean warming in global fisheries catch. Nature 497:365-369.
- Clark, T. D., E. Sandblom, and F. Jutfelt. 2013. Aerobic scope measurements of fishes in an era of climate change: Respirometry, relevance and recommendations. Journal of Experimental Biology 216:2771-2782.
- Cocco, V., F. Joos, M. Steinacher, T. L. Frolicher, L. Bopp, J. Dunne, M. Gehlen, C. Heinze, J. Orr, A. Oschlies, B. Schneider, J. Segschneider, and J. Tjiputra. 2013. Oxygen and indicators of stress for marine life in multi-model global warming projections. Biogeosciences 10:1849-1868.
- Conaway, C. H., A. E. Draut, K. R. Echols, C. D. Storlazzi, and A. Ritchie. 2013. Episodic suspended sediment transport and elevated polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon concentrations in a small, mountainous river in coastal California. River Research and Applications 29:919-932.

- Coyle, K. O., G. A. Gibson, K. Hedstrom, A. J. Hermann, and R. R. Hopcroft. 2013. Zooplankton biomass, advection and production on the northern Gulf of Alaska shelf from simulations and field observations. Journal of Marine Systems 128:185-207.
- Dalton, M. M., P. W. Mote, and A. K. Snover. 2013. Climate change in the Northwest: Implications for our landscapes, waters, and communities. Washington, DC: Island Press.
- Daly, E. A., T. D. Auth, R. D. Brodeur, and W. T. Peterson. 2013. Winter ichthyoplankton biomass as a predictor of early summer prey fields and survival of juvenile salmon in the northern California Current. Marine Ecology Progress Series 484:203-217.
- Davis, J. M., C. V. Baxter, E. J. Rosi-Marshall, J. L. Pierce, and B. T. Crosby. 2013. Anticipating stream ecosystem responses to climate change: Toward predictions that incorporate effects via land-water linkages. Ecosystems 16:909-922.
- Decima, M., M. R. Landry, and B. N. Popp. 2013. Environmental perturbation effects on baseline delta N-15 values and zooplankton trophic flexibility in the southern California Current Ecosystem. Limnology and Oceanography 58:624-634.
- Di Lorenzo, E. and M. D. Ohman. 2013. A double-integration hypothesis to explain ocean ecosystem response to climate forcing. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110:2496-2499.
- Dittmer, K. 2013. Changing streamflow on Columbia Basin tribal lands-climate change and salmon. Climatic Change 120:627-641.
- Dolomatov, S., W. Zukow, and R. Brudnicki. 2013. Role of temperature in regulation of the life cycle of temperate fish. Russian Journal of Marine Biology 39:81-91.
- Dorner, B., K. R. Holt, R. M. Peterman, C. Jordan, D. P. Larsen, A. R. Olsen, and O. I. Abdul-Aziz. 2013. Evaluating alternative methods for monitoring and estimating responses of salmon productivity in the North Pacific to future climatic change and other processes: A simulation study. Fisheries Research 147:10-23.
- Dugdale, S. J., N. E. Bergeron, and A. St-Hilaire. 2013. Temporal variability of thermal refuges and water temperature patterns in an Atlantic salmon river. Remote Sensing of Environment 136:358-373.
- Duliere, V., Y. X. Zhang, and E. P. Salathe. 2013. Changes in twentieth-century extreme temperature and precipitation over the western United States based on observations and regional climate model simulations. Journal of Climate 26:8556-8575.
- Durre, I., M. F. Squires, R. S. Vose, X. G. Yin, A. Arguez, and S. Applequist. 2013. NOAA's 1981-2010 U.S. climate normals: Monthly precipitation, snowfall, and snow depth. Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology 52:2377-2395.
- Eerkes-Medrano, D., B. A. Menge, C. Sislak, and C. J. Langdon. 2013. Contrasting effects of hypoxic conditions on survivorship of planktonic larvae of rocky intertidal invertebrates. Marine Ecology Progress Series 478:139-151.

- Elguindi, N. and A. Grundstein. 2013. An integrated approach to assessing 21st century climate change over the contiguous U.S. using the NARCCAP RCM output. Climatic Change 117:809-827.
- Eliason, E. J., S. M. Wilson, A. P. Farrell, S. J. Cooke, and S. G. Hinch. 2013. Low cardiac and aerobic scope in a coastal population of sockeye salmon Oncorhynchus nerka with a short upriver migration. Journal of Fish Biology 82:2104-2112.
- Ellis, L. E., C. F. D. Sacobie, J. D. Kieffer, and T. J. Benfey. 2013. The effects of dissolved oxygen and triploidy on critical thermal maximum in brook charr (Salvelinus fontinalis). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology a-Molecular & Integrative Physiology 166:426-433.
- Farrell, A. P. 2013. Aerobic scope and its optimum temperature: Clarifying their usefulness and limitations - correspondence on J. Exp. Biol. 216, 2771-2782. Journal of Experimental Biology 216:4493-4494.
- Feely, R. A., S. R. Alin, J. Newton, C. L. Sabine, M. Warner, A. Devol, C. Krembs, and C. Maloy. 2010. The combined effects of ocean acidification, mixing, and respiration on pH and carbonate saturation in an urbanized estuary. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 88:442-449.
- Ficklin, D. L., I. T. Stewart, and E. P. Maurer. 2013. Effects of climate change on stream temperature, dissolved oxygen, and sediment concentration in the Sierra Nevada in California. Water Resources Research 49:2765-2782.
- Filipe, A. F., D. Markovic, F. Pletterbauer, C. Tisseuil, A. De Wever, S. Schmutz, N. Bonada, and O. Freyhof. 2013. Forecasting fish distribution along stream networks: brown trout (Salmo trutta) in Europe. Diversity and Distributions 19:1059-1071.
- Flitcroft, R., K. Burnett, and K. Christiansen. 2013. A simple model that identifies potential effects of sea-level rise on estuarine and estuary-ecotone habitat locations for salmonids in Oregon, USA. Environmental Management 52:196-208.
- Franks, P. J. S., E. Di Lorenzo, N. L. Goebel, F. Chenillat, P. Riviere, C. A. Edward, and A. J. Miller. 2013. Modeling physical-biological responses to climate change in the California Current System. Oceanography 26:26-33.
- Frommel, A. Y., A. Schubert, U. Piatkowski, and C. Clemmesen. 2013. Egg and early larval stages of Baltic cod, Gadus morhua, are robust to high levels of ocean acidification. Marine Biology 160:1825-1834.
- Frost, A. J., J. S. Thomson, C. Smith, H. C. Burton, B. Davis, P. C. Watts, and L. U. Sneddon. 2013. Environmental change alters personality in the rainbow trout, Oncorhynchus mykiss. Animal Behaviour 85:1199-1207.

- Furniss, M. J., K. B. Roby, D. Cenderelli, J. Chatel, C. F. Clifton, A. Clingenpeel, P. E. Hays, D. Higgins, K. Hodges, C. Howe, L. Jungst, J. Louie, C. Mai, R. Martinez, K. Overton, B. P. Staab, R. Steinke, and M. Weinhold. 2013. Assessing the vulnerability of watersheds to climate change: results of national forest watershed vulnerability pilot assessments. . Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station.
- Gale, M. K., S. G. Hinch, and M. R. Donaldson. 2013. The role of temperature in the capture and release of fish. Fish and Fisheries 14:1-33.
- Garcia-Reyes, M., W. J. Sydeman, B. A. Black, R. R. Rykaczewski, D. S. Schoeman, S. A. Thompson, and S. J. Bograd. 2013a. Relative influence of oceanic and terrestrial pressure systems in driving upwelling-favorable winds. Geophysical Research Letters 40:5311-5315.
- Garcia-Reyes, M., W. J. Sydeman, S. A. Thompson, B. A. Black, R. R. Rykaczewski, J. A. Thayer, and S. J. Bograd. 2013b. Integrated assessment of wind effects on central California's pelagic ecosystem. Ecosystems 16:722-735.
- Gattuso, J. P., K. J. Mach, and G. Morgan. 2013. Ocean acidification and its impacts: An expert survey. Climatic Change 117:725-738.
- Gavin, D. G., L. B. Brubaker, and D. N. Greenwald. 2013. Postglacial climate and firemediated vegetation change on the western Olympic Peninsula, Washington (USA). Ecological Monographs 83:471-489.
- Gharrett, A. J., J. Joyce, and W. W. Smoker. 2013. Fine-scale temporal adaptation within a salmonid population: Mechanism and consequences. Molecular Ecology 22:4457-4469.
- Goode, J. R., J. M. Buffington, D. Tonina, D. J. Isaak, R. F. Thurow, S. Wenger, D. Nagel, C. Luce, D. Tetzlaff, and C. Soulsby. 2013. Potential effects of climate change on streambed scour and risks to salmonid survival in snow-dominated mountain basins. Hydrological Processes 27:750-765.
- Grah, O. and J. Beaulieu. 2013. The effect of climate change on glacier ablation and baseflow support in the Nooksack River basin and implications on Pacific salmonid species protection and recovery. Climatic Change 120:657-670.
- Gregory, R., J. Arvai, and L. R. Gerber. 2013. Structuring decisions for managing threatened and endangered species in a changing climate. Conservation Biology 27:1212-1221.
- Hamlet, A. F., M. M. Elsner, G. S. Mauger, S. Y. Lee, I. Tohver, and R. A. Norheim. 2013. An overview of the Columbia Basin climate change scenarios project: Approach, methods, and summary of key results. Atmosphere-Ocean 51:392-415.
- Handeland, S. O., A. K. Imsland, B. T. Bjornsson, and S. O. Stefansson. 2013. Long-term effects of photoperiod, temperature and their interaction on growth, gill Na+, K+-ATPase activity, seawater tolerance and plasma growth-hormone levels in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar. Journal of Fish Biology 83:1197-1209.

- Harris, K. E., M. D. DeGrandpre, and B. Hales. 2013. Aragonite saturation state dynamics in a coastal upwelling zone. Geophysical Research Letters 40:2720-2725.
- Harvey, C. J. and N. Garfield, editors. 2014. California Current Integrated Ecosystem Assessment Phase III Report 2013. Available from: <u>http://www.noaa.gov/iea/CCIEA-Report/index</u>.
- Hasnain, S. S., B. J. Shuter, and C. K. Minns. 2013. Phylogeny influences the relationships linking key ecological thermal metrics for North American freshwater fish species. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:964-972.
- Hatch, S. A. 2013. Kittiwake diets and chick production signal a 2008 regime shift in the Northeast Pacific. Marine Ecology Progress Series 477:271-284.
- Hatcher, K. L. and J. A. Jones. 2013. Climate and streamflow trends in the Columbia River Basin: Evidence for ecological and engineering resilience to climate change. Atmosphere-Ocean 51:436-455.
- Hauri, C., N. Gruber, A. M. P. McDonnell, and M. Vogt. 2013. The intensity, duration, and severity of low aragonite saturation state events on the California continental shelf. Geophysical Research Letters 40:3424-3428.
- Hedger, R. D., L. E. Sundt-Hansen, T. Forseth, O. Ugedal, O. H. Diserud, A. S. Kvambekk, and A. G. Finstad. 2013. Predicting climate change effects on subarctic-Arctic populations of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:159-168.
- Hegg, J. C., B. P. Kennedy, P. M. Chittaro, and R. W. Zabel. 2013. Spatial structuring of an evolving life-history strategy under altered environmental conditions. Oecologia 172:1017-1029.
- Heggenes, J., G. Bremset, and A. Brabrand. 2013. Visiting the hyporheic zone: Young Atlantic salmon move through the substratum. Freshwater Biology 58:1720-1728.
- Higgins, R. W. and V. E. Kousky. 2013. Changes in observed daily precipitation over the United States between 1950-79 and 1980-2009. Journal of Hydrometeorology 14:105-121.
- Hinrichsen, R. A., D. J. Hasselman, C. C. Ebbesmeyer, and B. A. Shields. 2013. The role of impoundments, temperature, and discharge on colonization of the Columbia River Basin, USA, by nonindigenous American Shad. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:887-900.
- Hooper, M. J., G. T. Ankley, D. A. Cristol, L. A. Maryoung, P. D. Noyes, and K. E. Pinkerton. 2013. Interactions between chemical and climate stressors: A role for mechanistic toxicology in assessing climate change risks. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 32:32-48.
- Hurst, T. P., E. R. Fernandez, and J. T. Mathis. 2013. Effects of ocean acidification on hatch size and larval growth of walleye pollock (Theragra chalcogramma). Ices Journal of Marine Science 70:812-822.

- Imholt, C., C. Soulsby, I. A. Malcolm, and C. N. Gibbins. 2013a. Influence of contrasting riparian forest cover on stream temperature dynamics in salmonid spawning and nursery streams. Ecohydrology 6:380-392.
- Imholt, C., C. Soulsby, I. A. Malcolm, M. Hrachowitz, C. N. Gibbins, S. Langan, and D. Tetzlaff. 2013b. Influence of scale on thermal characteristics in a large montane river basin. River Research and Applications 29:403-419.
- IPCC. 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Isaak, D. J. and B. E. Rieman. 2013. Stream isotherm shifts from climate change and implications for distributions of ectothermic organisms. Global Change Biology 19:742-751.
- Isaak, D. J., S. Wollrab, D. Horan, and G. Chandler. 2012. Climate change effects on stream and river temperatures across the northwest US from 1980-2009 and implications for salmonid fishes. Climatic Change 113:499-524.
- Johnson, M. A. and T. A. Friesen. 2013. Age at maturity, fork length, and sex ratio of Upper Willamette River Hatchery spring Chinook salmon. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 33:318-328.
- Jones, N. E. and I. C. Petreman. 2013. Relating extremes of flow and air temperature to stream fish communities. Ecohydrology 6:826-835.
- Jonsson, B., N. Jonsson, and A. G. Finstad. 2013. Effects of temperature and food quality on age and size at maturity in ectotherms: An experimental test with Atlantic salmon. Journal of Animal Ecology 82:201-210.
- Jorgensen, J. C., M. M. McClure, M. B. Sheer, and N. L. Munn. 2013. Combined effects of climate change and bank stabilization on shallow water habitats of Chinook salmon. Conservation Biology 27:1201-1211.
- Kammerer, B. D. and S. A. Heppell. 2013a. The effects of semichronic thermal stress on physiological indicators in steelhead. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:1299-1307.
- Kammerer, B. D. and S. A. Heppell. 2013b. Individual condition indicators of thermal habitat quality in field populations of redband trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss gairdneri). Environmental Biology of Fishes 96:823-835.
- Katz, J., P. B. Moyle, R. M. Quinones, J. Israel, and S. Purdy. 2013. Impending extinction of salmon, steelhead, and trout (Salmonidae) in California. Environmental Biology of Fishes 96:1169-1186.
- Keller, A. A., M. J. Bradburn, and V. H. Simon. 2013. Shifts in condition and distribution of eastern North Pacific flatfish along the US west coast (2003-2010). Deep-Sea Research Part I-Oceanographic Research Papers 77:23-35.
- Kelly, M. W. and G. E. Hofmann. 2013. Adaptation and the physiology of ocean acidification. Functional Ecology 27:980-990.

- Kelly, M. W., J. L. Padilla-Gamino, and G. E. Hofmann. 2013. Natural variation and the capacity to adapt to ocean acidification in the keystone sea urchin Strongylocentrotus purpuratus. Global Change Biology 19:2536-2546.
- Kim, J., D. E. Waliser, C. A. Mattmann, L. O. Mearns, C. E. Goodale, A. F. Hart, D. J. Crichton, S. McGinnis, H. Lee, P. C. Loikith, and M. Boustani. 2013. Evaluation of the surface climatology over the conterminous United States in the North American regional climate change assessment program hindcast experiment using a regional climate model evaluation system. Journal of Climate 26:5698-5715.
- Kirchhoff, C. J. 2013. Understanding and enhancing climate information use in water management. Climatic Change 119:495-509.
- Kosaka, Y. and S. P. Xie. 2013. Recent global-warming hiatus tied to equatorial Pacific surface cooling. Nature 501:403-416.
- Kovach, R. P., A. J. Gharrett, and D. A. Tallmon. 2012. Genetic change for earlier migration timing in a pink salmon population. Proceedings of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 279:3870-3878.
- Kovach, R. P., A. J. Gharrett, and D. A. Tallmon. 2013a. Temporal patterns of genetic variation in a salmon population undergoing rapid change in migration timing. Evolutionary Applications 6:795-807.
- Kovach, R. P., J. E. Joyce, J. D. Echave, M. S. Lindberg, and D. A. Tallmon. 2013b. Earlier migration timing, decreasing phenotypic variation, and biocomplexity in multiple salmonid species. Plos One 8:e53807.
- Kroeker, K. J., R. L. Kordas, R. Crim, I. E. Hendriks, L. Ramajo, G. S. Singh, C. M. Duarte, and J. P. Gattuso. 2013. Impacts of ocean acidification on marine organisms: Quantifying sensitivities and interaction with warming. Global Change Biology 19:1884-1896.
- Labonne, J., M. Vignon, E. Prevost, F. Lecomte, J. J. Dodson, R. Kaeuffer, J. C. Aymes, M. Jarry, P. Gaudin, P. Davaine, and E. Beall. 2013. Invasion dynamics of a fishfree landscape by brown trout (Salmo trutta). Plos One 8:e71052.
- Lacroix, G. L. 2013. Migratory strategies of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) postsmolts and implications for marine survival of endangered populations. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:32-48.
- Lankadurai, B. P., E. G. Nagato, and M. J. Simpson. 2013. Environmental metabolomics: An emerging approach to study organism responses to environmental stressors. Environmental Reviews 21:180-205.
- Leduc, A., P. L. Munday, G. E. Brown, and M. C. O. Ferrari. 2013. Effects of acidification on olfactory-mediated behaviour in freshwater and marine ecosystems: A synthesis. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences 368:20120447.
- Lefevre, M. A., M. J. W. Stokesbury, F. G. Whoriskey, and M. J. Dadswell. 2013. Migration of Atlantic salmon smolts and post-smolts in the Riviere Saint-Jean, QC north shore from riverine to marine ecosystems. Environmental Biology of Fishes 96:1017-1028.

- Li, L. B., D. Mackas, B. Hunt, J. Schweigert, E. Pakhomov, R. I. Perry, M. Galbraith, and T. J. Pitcher. 2013. Zooplankton communities in the Strait of Georgia, British Columbia, track large-scale climate forcing over the Pacific Ocean. Progress in Oceanography 115:90-102.
- Lindegren, M., D. M. Checkley, T. Rouyer, A. D. MacCall, and N. C. Stenseth. 2013. Climate, fishing, and fluctuations of sardine and anchovy in the California Current. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110:13672-13677.
- Lonnstedt, O. M., P. L. Munday, M. I. McCormick, M. C. O. Ferrari, and D. P. Chivers. 2013. Ocean acidification and responses to predators: can sensory redundancy reduce the apparent impacts of elevated CO2 on fish? Ecology and Evolution 3:3565-3575.
- Luce, C. H., J. T. Abatzoglou, and Z. A. Holden. 2013. The missing mountain water: Slower westerlies decrease orographic enhancement in the Pacific Northwest USA. Science 342:1360-1364.
- Madadgar, S. and H. Moradkhani. 2013. Drought analysis under climate change using copula. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering 18:746-759.
- Malcomb, N. L. and G. C. Wiles. 2013. Tree-ring-based reconstructions of North American glacier mass balance through the Little Ice Age - Contemporary warming transition. Quaternary Research 79:123-137.
- Maneja, R. H., A. Y. Frommel, H. I. Browman, C. Clemmesen, A. J. Geffen, A. Folkvord, U. Piatkowski, C. M. F. Durif, R. Bjelland, and A. B. Skiftesvik. 2013a. The swimming kinematics of larval Atlantic cod, Gadus morhua L., are resilient to elevated seawater pCO(2). Marine Biology 160:1963-1972.
- Maneja, R. H., A. Y. Frommel, A. J. Geffen, A. Folkvord, U. Piatkowski, M. Y. Chang, and C. Clemmesen. 2013b. Effects of ocean acidification on the calcification of otoliths of larval Atlantic cod Gadus morhua. Marine Ecology Progress Series 477:251-258.
- Mayer, T. D. 2012. Controls of summer stream temperature in the Pacific Northwest. Journal of Hydrology 475:323-335.
- McClure, M. M., M. Alexander, D. Borggaard, D. Boughton, L. Crozier, R. Griffis, J. C. Jorgensen, S. T. Lindley, J. Nye, M. J. Rowland, E. E. Seney, A. Snover, C. Toole, and K. Van Houtan. 2013. Incorporating climate science in applications of the U.S. endangered species act for aquatic species. Conservation Biology 27:1222-1233.
- McDermid, J. L., C. C. Wilson, W. N. Sloan, and B. J. Shuter. 2013. Intraspecific differences in thermal biology among inland lake trout populations. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:756-766.
- McKean, J. and D. Tonina. 2013. Bed stability in unconfined gravel bed mountain streams: With implications for salmon spawning viability in future climates. Journal of Geophysical Research-Earth Surface 118:1227-1240.

- Medvigy, D., R. L. Walko, M. J. Otte, and R. Avissar. 2013. Simulated changes in Northwest US climate in response to Amazon deforestation. Journal of Climate 26:9115-9136.
- Meinvielle, M. and G. C. Johnson. 2013. Decadal water-property trends in the California Undercurrent, with implications for ocean acidification. Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans 118:6687-6703.
- Melzner, F., J. Thomsen, W. Koeve, A. Oschlies, M. A. Gutowska, H. W. Bange, H. P. Hansen, and A. Kortzinger. 2013. Future ocean acidification will be amplified by hypoxia in coastal habitats. Marine Biology 160:1875-1888.
- Miller, J. A., D. J. Teel, A. Baptista, and C. A. Morgan. 2013. Disentangling bottom-up and top-down effects on survival during early ocean residence in a population of Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:617-629.
- Milner, A. M., A. L. Robertson, M. J. McDermott, M. J. Klaar, and L. E. Brown. 2013. Major flood disturbance alters river ecosystem evolution. Nature Climate Change 3:137-141.
- Mizzau, T. W., S. R. Garner, S. A. C. Marklevitz, G. J. Thompson, and Y. E. Morbey. 2013. A genetic test of sexual size dimorphism in pre-emergent Chinook Salmon. Plos One 8:e78421.
- Moe, S. J., K. De Schamphelaere, W. H. Clements, M. T. Sorensen, P. J. Van den Brink, and M. Liess. 2013. Combined and interactive effects of global climate change and toxicants on populations and communities. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 32:49-61.
- Monk, W. A., N. M. Wilbur, R. A. Curry, R. Gagnon, and R. N. Faux. 2013. Linking landscape variables to cold water refugia in rivers. Journal of Environmental Management 118:170-176.
- Moran, P., D. J. Teel, M. A. Banks, T. D. Beacham, M. R. Bellinger, S. M. Blankenship, J. R. Candy, J. C. Garza, J. E. Hess, S. R. Narum, L. W. Seeb, W. D. Templin, C. G. Wallace, and C. T. Smith. 2013. Divergent life-history races do not represent Chinook salmon coast-wide: The importance of scale in Quaternary biogeography. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:415-435.
- Mosser, C. M., L. C. Thompson, and J. S. Strange. 2013. Survival of captured and relocated adult spring-run Chinook salmon Oncorhynchus tshawytscha in a Sacramento River tributary after cessation of migration. Environmental Biology of Fishes 96:405-417.
- Mote, P. W., J. Abatzoglou, and K. E. Kunkel. 2013. Variability and change in the past and the future. Pages 25-40 in M. M. Dalton, P. W. Mote, and A. K. Snover, editors. Climate Change in the Northwest: Implications for Our Landscapes, Waters, and Communities. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- Narum, S. R., N. R. Campbell, K. A. Meyer, M. R. Miller, and R. W. Hardy. 2013. Thermal adaptation and acclimation of ectotherms from differing aquatic climates. Molecular Ecology 22:3090-3097.

- Nehring, R. B., B. Hancock, M. Catanese, M. E. T. Stinson, D. Winkelman, J. Wood, and J. Epp. 2013. Reduced Myxobolus cerebralis Actinospore production in a Colorado reservoir may be linked to changes in Tubifex tubifex population structure. Journal of Aquatic Animal Health 25:205-220.
- Neupane, S. and E. M. Yager. 2013. Numerical simulation of the impact of sediment supply and streamflow variations on channel grain sizes and Chinook salmon habitat in mountain drainage networks. Earth Surface Processes and Landforms 38:1822-1837.
- Nielsen, J. L., G. T. Ruggerone, and C. E. Zimmerman. 2013. Adaptive strategies and life history characteristics in a warming climate: Salmon in the Arctic? Environmental Biology of Fishes 96:1187-1226.
- Nikinmaa, M. 2013. Climate change and ocean acidification interactions with aquatic toxicology. Aquatic Toxicology 126:365-372.
- Null, S. E., S. T. Ligare, and J. H. Viers. 2013. A method to consider whether dams mitigate climate change effects on stream temperatures. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 49:1456-1472.
- O'Malley, K. G., D. P. Jacobson, R. Kurth, A. J. Dill, and M. A. Banks. 2013. Adaptive genetic markers discriminate migratory runs of Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) amid continued gene flow. Evolutionary Applications 6:1184-1194.
- Perry, R. I. and D. Masson. 2013. An integrated analysis of the marine social-ecological system of the Strait of Georgia, Canada, over the past four decades, and development of a regime shift index. Progress in Oceanography 115:14-27.
- Peterson, J. O., C. A. Morgan, W. T. Peterson, and E. Di Lorenzo. 2013. Seasonal and interannual variation in the extent of hypoxia in the northern California Current from 1998-2012. Limnology and Oceanography 58:2279-2292.
- Pinsky, M. L., B. Worm, M. J. Fogarty, J. L. Sarmiento, and S. A. Levin. 2013. Marine taxa track local climate velocities. Science 341:1239-1242.
- Piou, C. and E. Prevost. 2013. Contrasting effects of climate change in continental vs. oceanic environments on population persistence and microevolution of Atlantic salmon. Global Change Biology 19:711-723.
- Raby, G. D., S. J. Cooke, K. V. Cook, S. H. McConnachie, M. R. Donaldson, S. G. Hinch, C. K. Whitney, S. M. Drenner, D. A. Patterson, T. D. Clark, and A. P. Farrell. 2013. Resilience of pink salmon and chum salmon to simulated fisheries capture stress incurred upon arrival at spawning grounds. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 142:524-539.
- Ralston, S., K. M. Sakuma, and J. C. Field. 2013. Interannual variation in pelagic juvenile rockfish (Sebastes spp.) abundance - going with the flow. Fisheries Oceanography 22:288-308.
- Ray, R. A. and J. L. Bartholomew. 2013. Estimation of transmission dynamics of the Ceratomyxa shasta actinospore to the salmonid host. Parasitology 140:907-916.

- Riar, N., J. Crago, W. Y. Jiang, L. A. Maryoung, J. Gan, and D. Schlenk. 2013. Effects of salinity acclimation on the endocrine disruption and acute toxicity of bifenthrin in freshwater and euryhaline strains of Oncorhynchus Mykiss. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 32:2779-2785.
- Richard, A., M. Dionne, J. L. Wang, and L. Bernatchez. 2013. Does catch and release affect the mating system and individual reproductive success of wild Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.)? Molecular Ecology 22:187-200.
- Riedl, C. and A. Peter. 2013. Timing of brown trout spawning in Alpine rivers with special consideration of egg burial depth. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 22:384-397.
- Roberts, J. J., K. D. Fausch, D. P. Peterson, and M. B. Hooten. 2013. Fragmentation and thermal risks from climate change interact to affect persistence of native trout in the Colorado River basin. Global Change Biology 19:1383-1398.
- Rogers, L. A., D. E. Schindler, P. J. Lisi, G. W. Holtgrieve, P. R. Leavitt, L. Bunting, B. P. Finney, D. T. Selbie, G. J. Chen, I. Gregory-Eaves, M. J. Lisac, and P. B. Walsh. 2013. Centennial-scale fluctuations and regional complexity characterize Pacific salmon population dynamics over the past five centuries. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110:1750-1755.
- Ross, P. S., C. J. Kennedy, L. K. Shelley, K. B. Tierney, D. A. Patterson, W. L. Fairchild, and R. W. Macdonald. 2013. The trouble with salmon: Relating pollutant exposure to toxic effect in species with transformational life histories and lengthy migrations. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:1252-1264.
- Roy, M. L., A. G. Roy, J. W. A. Grant, and N. E. Bergeron. 2013. Individual variability in the movement behaviour of juvenile Atlantic salmon. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:339-347.
- Roze, T., F. Christen, A. Amerand, and G. Claireaux. 2013. Trade-off between thermal sensitivity, hypoxia tolerance and growth in fish. Journal of Thermal Biology 38:98-106.
- Ruggiero, P. 2013. Is the intensifying wave climate of the US Pacific Northwest increasing flooding and erosion risk faster than sea-level rise? Journal of Waterway Port Coastal and Ocean Engineering-Asce 139:88-97.
- Rupp, D. E., J. T. Abatzoglou, K. C. Hegewisch, and P. W. Mote. 2013. Evaluation of CMIP5 20th century climate simulations for the Pacific Northwest USA. Journal of Geophysical Research-Atmospheres 118:10884-10906.
- Ryan, D. K., J. M. Yearsley, and M. Kelly-Quinn. 2013. Quantifying the effect of seminatural riparian cover on stream temperatures: Implications for salmonid habitat management. Fisheries Management and Ecology 20:494-507.
- Safeeq, M., G. E. Grant, S. L. Lewis, and C. L. Tague. 2013. Coupling snowpack and groundwater dynamics to interpret historical streamflow trends in the western United States. Hydrological Processes 27:655-668.

- Schmidt-Posthaus, H., P. Steiner, B. Muller, and A. Casanova-Nakayama. 2013. Complex interaction between proliferative kidney disease, water temperature and concurrent nematode infection in brown trout. Diseases of Aquatic Organisms 104:23-34.
- Schroeder, I. D., B. A. Black, W. J. Sydeman, S. J. Bograd, E. L. Hazen, J. A. Santora, and B. K. Wells. 2013. The North Pacific high and wintertime pre-conditioning of California Current productivity. Geophysical Research Letters 40:541-546.
- Seney, E. E., M. J. Rowland, R. A. Lowery, R. B. Griffis, and M. M. McClure. 2013. Climate change, marine environments, and the U.S. Endangered Species Act. Conservation Biology 27:1138-1146.
- Sharma, R., L. A. Velez-Espino, A. C. Wertheimer, N. Mantua, and R. C. Francis. 2013. Relating spatial and temporal scales of climate and ocean variability to survival of Pacific Northwest Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha). Fisheries Oceanography 22:14-31.
- Sloat, M. R. and A. M. K. Osterback. 2013. Maximum stream temperature and the occurrence, abundance, and behavior of steelhead trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) in a southern California stream. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:64-73.
- Snover, A. K., N. J. Mantua, J. S. Littell, M. A. Alexander, M. M. McClure, and J. Nye. 2013a. Choosing and using climate-change scenarios for ecological-impact assessments and conservation decisions. Conservation Biology 27:1147-1157.
- Snover, A. K., G. S. Mauger, L. C. W. Binder, M. Krosby, and I. Tohver. 2013b. Climate Change Impacts and Adaptation in Washington State: Technical Summaries for Decision Makers. Climate Impacts Group, University of Washington, Seattle.
- Sproles, E. A., A. W. Nolin, K. Rittger, and T. H. Painter. 2013. Climate change impacts on maritime mountain snowpack in the Oregon Cascades. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 17:2581-2597.
- Sridhar, V., X. Jin, and W. T. A. Jaksa. 2013. Explaining the hydroclimatic variability and change in the Salmon River basin. Climate Dynamics 40:1921-1937.
- Surfleet, C. G. and D. Tullos. 2013a. Uncertainty in hydrologic modelling for estimating hydrologic response due to climate change (Santiam River, Oregon). Hydrological Processes 27:3560-3576.
- Surfleet, C. G. and D. Tullos. 2013b. Variability in effect of climate change on rain-onsnow peak flow events in a temperate climate. Journal of Hydrology 479:24-34.
- Sydeman, W. J., J. A. Santora, S. A. Thompson, B. Marinovic, and E. Di Lorenzo. 2013. Increasing variance in North Pacific climate relates to unprecedented ecosystem variability off California. Global Change Biology 19:1662-1675.
- Tan, J. and K. A. Cherkauer. 2013. Assessing stream temperature variation in the Pacific Northwest using airborne thermal infrared remote sensing. Journal of Environmental Management 115:206-216.

- Tetzlaff, D., C. Soulsby, J. Buttle, R. Capell, S. K. Carey, H. Laudon, J. McDonnell, K. McGuire, J. Seibert, and J. Shanley. 2013. Catchments on the cusp? Structural and functional change in northern ecohydrology. Hydrological Processes 27:766-774.
- Thomas, A. C., R. Mendelssohn, and R. Weatherbee. 2013. Background trends in California Current surface chlorophyll concentrations: A state-space view. Journal of Geophysical Research-Oceans 118:5296-5311.
- Thorstad, E. B., I. Uglem, B. Finstad, F. Kroglund, I. E. Einarsdottir, T. Kristensen, O. Diserud, P. Arechavala-Lopez, I. Mayer, A. Moore, R. Nilsen, B. T. Bjornsson, and F. Okland. 2013. Reduced marine survival of hatchery-reared Atlantic salmon post-smolts exposed to aluminium and moderate acidification in freshwater. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 124:34-43.
- Tolkova, E. 2013. Tide-tsunami interaction in Columbia River, as implied by historical data and numerical simulations. Pure and Applied Geophysics 170:1115-1126.
- U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 2013. Location and use of adult salmon thermal refugia in the lower Columbia and lower Snake rivers. https://www.salmonrecovery.gov/Files/BiologicalOpinions/2010/Thermal%20ref ugia%20report%20Feb%2014%202013.pdf.
- Verkaik, I., M. Rieradevall, S. D. Cooper, J. M. Melack, T. L. Dudley, and N. Prat. 2013. Fire as a disturbance in mediterranean climate streams. Hydrobiologia 719:353-382.
- Vincent, B., M. Dionne, M. P. Kent, S. Lien, and L. Bernatchez. 2013. Landscape genomics in Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar): Searching for gene-environment interactions driving local adaptation. Evolution 67:3469-3487.
- Wade, A. A., T. J. Beechie, E. Fleishman, N. J. Mantua, H. Wu, J. S. Kimball, D. M. Stoms, and J. A. Stanford. 2013. Steelhead vulnerability to climate change in the Pacific Northwest. Journal of Applied Ecology 50:1093-1104.
- Waibel, M. S., M. W. Gannett, H. Chang, and C. L. Hulbe. 2013. Spatial variability of the response to climate change in regional groundwater systems Examples from simulations in the Deschutes Basin, Oregon. Journal of Hydrology 486:187-201.
- Wainwright, T. C. and L. A. Weitkamp. 2013. Effects of climate change on Oregon coast Coho Salmon: Habitat and life-cycle interactions. Northwest Science 87:219-242.
- Walters, A. W., K. K. Bartz, and M. M. McClure. 2013. Interactive effects of water diversion and climate change for juvenile Chinook salmon in the Lemhi River Basin (U.S.A.). Conservation Biology 27:1179-1189.
- Warnock, W. G. and J. B. Rasmussen. 2013. Abiotic and biotic factors associated with brook trout invasiveness into bull trout streams of the Canadian Rockies. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 70:905-914.
- Weber, C., C. Nilsson, L. Lind, K. T. Alfredsen, and L. E. Polvi. 2013. Winter disturbances and riverine fish in temperate and cold regions. Bioscience 63:199-210.

- Wellband, K. W. and D. D. Heath. 2013a. Environmental associations with gene transcription in Babine Lake rainbow trout: Evidence for local adaptation. Ecology and Evolution 3:1194-1208.
- Wellband, K. W. and D. D. Heath. 2013b. The relative contribution of drift and selection to transcriptional divergence among Babine Lake tributary populations of juvenile rainbow trout. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 26:2497-2508.
- Wells, B. K., I. D. Schroeder, J. A. Santora, E. L. Hazen, S. J. Bograd, E. P. Bjorkstedt, V. J. Loeb, S. McClatchie, E. D. Weber, W. Watson, A. R. Thompson, W. T. Peterson, R. D. Brodeur, J. Harding, J. Field, K. Sakuma, S. Hayes, N. Mantua, W. J. Sydeman, M. Losekoot, S. A. Thompson, J. Largier, S. Y. Kim, F. P. Chavez, C. Barcelo, P. Warzybok, R. Bradley, J. Jahncke, R. Goericke, G. S. Campbell, J. A. Hildebrand, S. R. Melin, R. L. Delong, J. Gomez-Valdes, B. Lavaniegos, G. Gaxiola-Castro, R. T. Golightly, S. R. Schneider, N. Lo, R. M. Suryan, A. J. Gladics, C. A. Horton, J. Fisher, C. Morgan, J. Peterson, E. A. Daly, T. D. Auth, and J. Abell. 2013. State of the California Current 2012-13: No such thing as an "average" year. California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations Reports 54:37-71.
- Wenger, S. J., N. A. Som, D. C. Dauwalter, D. J. Isaak, H. M. Neville, C. H. Luce, J. B. Dunham, M. K. Young, K. D. Fausch, and B. E. Rieman. 2013. Probabilistic accounting of uncertainty in forecasts of species distributions under climate change. Global Change Biology 19:3343-3354.
- Whitney, C. K., S. G. Hinch, and D. A. Patterson. 2013. Provenance matters: Thermal reaction norms for embryo survival among sockeye salmon Oncorhynchus nerka populations. Journal of Fish Biology 82:1159-1176.
- Wigington, P. J., S. G. Leibowitz, R. L. Comeleo, and J. L. Ebersole. 2013. Oregon hydrologic landscapes: A classification framework. Journal of the American Water Resources Association 49:163-182.
- Wilsey, C. B., J. J. Lawler, E. P. Maurer, D. McKenzie, P. A. Townsend, R. Gwozdz, J. A. Freund, K. Hagmann, and K. M. Hutten. 2013. Tools for assessing climate impacts on fish and wildlife. Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management 4:220-241.
- Yool, A., E. E. Popova, A. C. Coward, D. Bernie, and T. R. Anderson. 2013. Climate change and ocean acidification impacts on lower trophic levels and the export of organic carbon to the deep ocean. Biogeosciences 10:5831-5854.
- Yu, J. Y. and Y. H. Zou. 2013. The enhanced drying effect of Central-Pacific El Nino on US winter. Environmental Research Letters 8:014019.

Glossary

A1B, A2, B1	Carbon emission scenarios from AR4
AR4	4 th IPCC Assessment Report
AR5	5 th IPCC Assessment Report
CMIP3	Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 3
CMIP5	Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5
ENSO	El Niño-Southern Oscillation
GCM	Global Climate Model
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
NPGO	North Pacific Gyre Oscillation
PDO	Pacific Decadal Oscillation
RCM	Regional climate model
RCP	Representative concentration pathways (Emissions scenarios for AR5)
VIC	Variable infiltration capacity model